
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 10 April 2017

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman) Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor S H Brown (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor L A Canham Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor M I Peters
Councillor B Garden Councillor B E Read
Councillor J S Hawkes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor R Lees Councillor D Swinerd

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

Thursday 13 April 2017

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

The Cabinet Advisory Panel A meeting will be held at 7.00pm, and the Cabinet meeting at 
7.30pm, at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A 
Monday 10 April 2017

CABINET
Thursday 13 April 2017

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 9 March 2017 
(Pages 1 - 8)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 10 
April 2017 
To follow 

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage. 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Consultation on the Housing White Paper "Fixing our Broken 
Housing Market" (Pages 9 - 34)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This report is produced in response to the Government’s 
consultation on the document ‘Fixing our Broken Housing 
Market’ (February 2017), known as the Housing White Paper.

2. A summary of proposed further actions are listed in Appendix 
A to the report, and the proposed response to the consultation 
questions forms in Appendix B.



Recommendation:

That the Council’s response to the Government’s White Paper 
‘Fixing our Broken Housing Market’ (February 2017)’ 
consultation, as set out in Appendix B to the report, be agreed. 

B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

8. Business Rate Pool: Use of Pool Funds (Pages 35 - 38) SD (IS)
Summary:

This report seeks Members’ agreement for the use of the joint 
regeneration pot within the business rate pooling funds 
towards the Council’s contribution to the Thames Gateway 
Kent Partnership and to support the Dartford Town Centre 
Regeneration project.

Recommendations:

1. That Cabinet agrees a sum of £58,000 be drawn down from 
the joint regeneration pot of the business rate pooling funds as 
the contribution towards the work of the Thames Gateway 
Kent Partnership as set out in the report.

2. That Cabinet agrees that the balance of the joint regeneration 
pot be used to support the Dartford Town Centre Regeneration 
project. 

9. Street Naming and Numbering - Land North of Hedge Place Road 
(Pages 39 - 42)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To approve two new road names for the development of the 
land to the north of Hedge Place Road.

Recommendation:

That Fairlawn and Swansfield be approved as the two new 
road names for the development of the land to the north of 
Hedge Place Road. 

C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing

10. Orchard Theatre: Auditorium Seating (Pages 43 - 46) SD (IS)
Summary:

The Orchard Theatre operator, HQ Theatres, wish to replace 
the auditorium seating to meet health and safety requirements. 
Members are asked to note the capital contribution that the 



Council is required to pay towards these works in accordance 
with the lease. Provision for this contribution has been made 
within the 2017/18 Capital Programme.

Recommendation:

That Members note that a contribution of £40,546.75 will be 
required from the Council towards the cost of replacement 
auditorium seating in accordance with the Orchard Theatre 
lease. 

11. Report of Delegated Action taken under Standing Order 38: 
Response to A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet Junction Improvements 
Public Consultation (Pages 47 - 66)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of 
Standing Order 38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under 
Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to the 
Council’s response to the Highways England public 
consultation on proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and 
Ebbsfleet junctions.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, 
in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing 
Order 38(2)(a), in relation to the Council’s response to the 
Highways England public consultation on proposed 
improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions. 

12. Dartford Home Energy Conservation - Home Energy and Fuel 
Poverty Action Plan 2015 – 2018 Progress Report & Home 
Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2017 - 2020 (Pages 67 - 92)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. The Council is required to publish a report at two yearly 
intervals on progress made in implementing measures relating 
to the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995.

2. The report attached at Appendix A covers the progress made 
against the actions in the 2015 – 2018 Home Energy and Fuel 
Poverty Action Plan.  The report also covers a range of areas 
including an analysis on Dartford’s current position regarding 
energy efficiency and the action to be taken in the period 2017 
to 2020.

3. The report also includes information about the changes to the 
Energy Company Obligation Government Scheme following 



wide consultation.

Recommendation:

That the contents of the 2015 – 2018 Home Energy and Fuel 
Poverty Action Plan progress report at Appendix A and the 
Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2017 - 2020 at 
Appendix B, be noted. 



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 9 March 2017 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor S R Jarnell

116. HONORARY ALDERMAN TERRY SMITH 

The Chairman noted with sadness the recent death of Honorary Alderman, 
ex-Councillor and former Mayor Terry Smith. He described how he had been 
a great Dartfordian and friend to all and said that he would be greatly missed 
by many people. He also referred to his time as Chairman of the Development 
Control Board and noted the various major projects that had been delivered 
under his Chairmanship. Other Members echoed the sentiments expressed 
by the Chairman and asked that Cabinet’s best wishes and condolences be 
passed to his family.

117. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

118. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

119. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 26 
JANUARY 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 26 January 2017 be 
confirmed.

120. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

121. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 6 MARCH 2017 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 6 
March 2017 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

2

122. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

123. RESPONSE TO KENT FREIGHT ACTION PLAN CONSULTATION 

This report summarised the content of Kent County Council’s (KCC’s) draft 
Freight Action Plan for Kent and recommended that the Council respond to 
the consultation on a number of matters, particularly with regard to freight 
impacts at the Dartford Crossing.

The Head of Regeneration noted this to be a high level document which 
considered ways of reducing the impact of freight traffic on communities in 
Kent. She then talked Members through the five high level actions identified in 
the document and said that, although the Council agreed with the actions that 
had been identified, the response asked that they be strengthened and more 
detail provided. She then noted how the proposed response had highlighted 
the fact that no actions had been identified to address the impacts of freight 
using the Dartford Crossing, and that no reference had been made to KCC’s 
support for a Lower Thames Crossing at Option C. The response also felt that 
the Action Plan had failed to consider the wider impact that a road/rail 
interchange at Howbury would have on local freight traffic levels. She then 
referred to the issues raised by the Advisory Panel who had asked that the 
reference to the air quality impacts of freight transport be enhanced, that the 
impact of lorry parking in areas other than those already identified be 
highlighted, and that the suggested siting of rail/freight interchanges at other 
locations (including North of the River Thames) be proposed.

The Chairman welcomed the response that had been proposed and 
expressed concern at the impact that heavy goods vehicle traffic was having 
on local roads whenever there is congestion on the strategic road network. He 
also strongly agreed with the need to include a reference to the benefits that 
would be delivered by the construction of the Lower Thames Crossing at 
Option C as he felt that the regularly occurring problems at the Dartford 
Crossing could not be allowed to continue.

Members referred to the comments that had been made in relation to the 
siting of a Strategic Rail Freight Interchange at Howbury and noted how 
access to this site would lead to an increase in freight traffic flow through 
Dartford rather than helping to ease congestion on local roads.

Members also noted how the size and weight of heavy goods vehicles had 
steadily increased over time and referred to the problems that can now occur 
when they have to travel through villages, for example Sutton-at-Hone, in 
order to reach local business sites. In order to highlight this concern Members 
agreed that the response be expanded to ask that the pressure on local roads 
caused by businesses which generate significant transport movements be 
addressed.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

3

Members noted how the placing of boulders along Watling Street had stopped 
the lorry parking which used to take place along that road and thought this to 
have been a worthwhile strategy.

Members then referred to the Howbury Strategic Rail Freight Interchange 
planning application approval process and were advised by the Head of 
Regeneration that it had already been approved by Bexley Borough Council 
but had yet to be considered by Dartford Borough Council. She also 
confirmed that it had to be approved by both Local Authorities for the project 
to proceed and that the applicant would be able to appeal the decision if it 
was refused by Dartford.

Following discussion Members agreed that the Head of Regeneration be 
asked to also add more weight to the response relating to the Freight 
Interchange and the issues that had been highlighted relating to the Dartford 
Crossing.

RESOLVED:

That the response to the consultation on the draft Freight Action Plan for Kent, 
as set out in Appendix A to the report and amended by the above minute, be 
submitted to Kent County Council.

124. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY GOVERNANCE 
ARRANGEMENTS 

This report proposed governance arrangements for the funding and delivery 
of infrastructure, which is required to support planned development in 
Dartford, following the implementation of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) by the Council.

The Head of Regeneration noted how the funds being received from CIL were 
growing and said that a mechanism to prioritise and allocate spending was 
now required. She explained how the process would be managed through a 
Steering Group which would prioritise bids and propose a 5 year rolling 
programme of projects. She said that the Steering Group would be an 
advisory body and that Cabinet would be required to make the final decision 
on the chosen projects and spending plans. She also noted how the General 
Assembly of the Council would be required to set the overall CIL spending 
envelope annually at its budget meeting. She then talked Members through 
the proposed membership of the Steering Group and said that it should 
include 4 Members from Dartford Council and representatives from Kent 
County Council, the Clinical Commissioning Group, Highways England, the 
Environment Agency and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation, and other 
bodies if considered appropriate. The Chairman also noted how it had been 
proposed that Dartford Member representation on the Steering Group should 
be politically balanced so that the advisory recommendations generated have 
cross party input.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

4

The Chairman then referred to the proportion of CIL that is allocated to 
Parish/Town Councils and unparished areas and said that those responsible 
for allocating funds to projects in each local area should be made aware of the 
need to work in partnership with the Borough Council, and combine their 
proportion of CIL funding with that held by the Borough Council, in order that 
larger projects (e.g. the delivery of new local health related or educational 
facilities) may be considered. The Head of Regeneration noted that 
discussions relating to investment in shared infrastructure and the need for 
Parish/Town Council support were proposed to take place.

In response to a question relating to whether the Parish/Town Council 
proportion of CIL could be used to maintain street lighting the Head of 
Regeneration advised that CIL funding should be used to address the 
demands that development places on an area and that careful arguments 
would have to be put forward in order for it to be used to replace or maintain 
existing infrastructure.

RESOLVED:

1. That the governance arrangements for decision-making and monitoring 
of CIL monies, as set out in paragraphs 5.1 to 5.8 and Appendices A, B 
and D of this report, be agreed.

2. That a CIL Steering Group be set up in accordance with the proposals 
in paragraphs 5.5 to 5.6 of the report.

3. That proposals for liaison with Town and Parish Councils on joint 
infrastructure priorities, as set out in paragraphs 5.11 to 5.12 of the 
report, be agreed.

4. That detailed proposals for engaging with local communities on the 
spending of local CIL funding in unparished areas be developed and 
reported to Cabinet.

5. That, for the reasons outlined in paragraph 5.17 of the report, a CIL 
exemption policy not be introduced at the current time and that the 
situation be kept under review.

6. That the updated online CIL guidance, as set out in Appendix E to the 
report, be noted.

125. CONSULTATION ON DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE FRAMEWORK 

This report described the purpose and content of the Draft Dartford Town 
Centre Framework, which sets out a clear vision for the town centre with the 
aim of delivering a step change in the environment and overall experience for 
those using the town centre.  The Framework identified actions and 
interventions for the improvement of public space and the town’s built 
environment.  It also provided guidance for development proposals so that 



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

5

maximum benefit for all users of the town centre is achieved through this 
private investment.

The report also recommended that the Framework be brought into immediate 
use to assist in guiding the design of public realm schemes as well as 
informing planning decisions on development in the town centre.  However, to 
have the full weight of a formal planning document, the Framework must go 
through the required planning procedures and be adopted as a 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) by the Council.  It was therefore 
recommended that public consultation is undertaken on the document, with a 
view to adopting it as an SPD.

The Chairman welcomed this important document and referred to the way that 
it had been positively presented in the local press. He also noted the many 
favourable comments that were being received from members of the public. 
He then referred to the amount of consultation that had already taken place 
during the documents creation and confirmed that the amounts of money that 
were being made available would be enough to deliver town centre 
improvements that would make a difference. He also described how different 
people were expressing differing views on proposed designs and the 
Framework’s vision, but said that it was important to keep an open mind and 
support the aim of delivering quality changes whilst respecting Dartford’s 
heritage, and creating a town centre that was ready for the future.

The Head of Regeneration described how the Framework document did not 
present a fixed plan but provided an overall strategy that could be followed, 
and referred to, when making planning related decisions. She explained how 
it promoted improved quality and enhanced opportunity and that, in order to 
encourage full public involvement, would also be published in a simplified 
brochure form. She then noted the benefits of adopting the Framework as an 
SPD and its value to those developers and businesses who are looking to 
invest in the area.

Members welcomed the document and its readability and supported the way 
that Dartford was now being described as a desirable place to live. Reference 
was then made to the documents content and it was suggested that the 9 
hole, par three, golf course situated on the Princes Park site also be included 
as one of the leisure related facilities currently on offer in the Borough.

Members also discussed the statement relating to the under-provision of 
eating establishments in the town centre and were advised that this related to 
the lack of representation from larger restaurant chains and known brands. 
Reference was then made to the large amount of interest being shown in the 
homes being built on the Northern Gateway site, and the fact that many of 
those likely to buy one of these properties would lead a lifestyle which 
involved regular dining out rather than eating at home. The existence of 
unique quality restaurants in the town centre was also noted, as was the 
policy set out in the emerging development plan which would ensure that a 
balance is maintained between the eating establishments and shops in the 
town centre.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

6

The Chairman referred to the interest in the town centre that was being shown 
by members of the public and noted the number of people that had recently 
attended a tour of the Acacia site to learn about, and comment on, the 
changes that were planned for the area. He also highlighted the level of 
support that had been expressed for the Council’s Acacia related proposals. 
He then went on to note the types of community event that are held in the 
town centre, many of which are free to attend, and the Council’s support for 
the provision of new entertainment and arts related facilities.

The Chairman then referred to points that had been raised at the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel meeting and confirmed that a website relating to Dartford’s 
history and plans for the future was being discussed. He also confirmed that, 
constitutionally, Cabinet would be required to approve the final version of the 
Framework document but said that this did not prevent all Members from 
making their views felt as part of the consultation exercise. He also 
anticipated that all Members would be welcome to attend the Cabinet 
Advisory Panel which would be held prior to the Cabinet meeting in order that 
their views and comments on the version of the Framework document being 
presented for Cabinet’s approval may be passed to Cabinet for consideration.

RESOLVED:

1. That the draft Dartford Town Centre Framework, attached at Appendix 
A to the report, be approved as a document for guiding investment and 
as a material consideration in planning decisions in the town centre, 
with immediate effect.

2. That the draft Dartford Town Centre Framework, attached at Appendix 
A to the report, and the Consultation Document (Early Stage Input) 
Statement attached at Appendix B to the report, be approved for public 
consultation as a prospective Supplementary Planning Document.

3. That the Head of Regeneration be granted delegated authority to make 
minor editorial changes and to finalise diagrams and graphic material to 
the draft Framework prior to public consultation as a prospective 
Supplementary Planning Document.

126. ACACIA HALL REDEVELOPMENT PROPOSAL PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
RESULTS AND NEXT STEPS 

This report set out the results of the public consultation on the Acacia Hall site 
redevelopment proposals, and requested consent to go to tender at the 
appropriate time.

The Chairman again referred to a tour of the Acacia site that had recently 
been arranged for members of the public and the positive feedback that had 
been received at the event. He also noted the many favourable responses 
that had been made during the public consultation exercise. He then drew 
Members’ attention to the responses that had suggested that an arts/cultural 



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

7

facility be included on the site and said that, although this could be 
considered, a facility such as this would have to be commercially viable and 
sustainable.

Members noted the various comments that had been made in relation to the 
provision of additional car parking and referred to the careful planning that 
had been carried out when designing the site. They also noted how car 
parking on the Acacia site would allow visitors close access to Central Park 
and the Town Centre.

RESOLVED:

1. That the results of the public consultation, attached at Appendix A to 
the report, be noted.

2. That the Officer assessment of the responses to the public 
consultation, as set out in Appendix A to the report, be noted.

3. That the Strategic Director (Internal Services) be granted delegated 
authority to tender the works at the appropriate time.

127. GROUNDS MAINTENANCE CONTRACT 

This report sought approval for the retendering of the Grounds Maintenance 
Contract.

Members referred to the favourable remarks that had been received from 
residents on the way that the Borough’s parks and grounds are maintained 
and approved the retendering of the contract.

RESOLVED:

That, subject to compliance with EU procurement rules, the Strategic Director 
(External Services) be authorised to retender the Grounds Maintenance 
Contract and enter into a contract with the successful bidder on terms to be 
agreed with the Head of Legal Services.

128. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 3 of 2016-17.

Members noted those indicators which were showing as an alert and the way 
that this enabled effort to be focussed on those areas where improvement 
may be required.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 9 MARCH 2017

8

129. REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING ORDER 
38: SHORT TERM LEASING FOR TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION 

This report advised Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing 
Order 38(2)(b), of the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) 
by the Managing Director, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, to enter 
into a 10 year lease for 13 flats for use as temporary accommodation.

RESOLVED:

That the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), to enter into a 10 year 
lease for 13 flats for use as temporary accommodation, be noted.

130. MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 
13 DECEMBER 2016 

This report presented to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 13 December 2016.

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 13 
December 2016 be noted.

131. REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING ORDER 
38: SHORT TERM LEASING FOR TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION - 
EXEMPT APPENDIX
(EXEMPT CATEGORY SO 46 (1) (B) ANNEX 1 PARAGRAPH 2) 

RESOLVED:

That, following discussion of the main report (minute 129), the appendix be 
noted.

The meeting closed at 8.06 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

CONSULTATION ON THE HOUSING WHITE PAPER “FIXING 
OUR BROKEN HOUSING MARKET” 

1.   Summary

1.1 This report is produced in response to the Government’s consultation on the 
document ‘Fixing our Broken Housing Market’ (February 2017), known as the 
Housing White Paper.

1.2   A summary of proposed further actions are listed in Appendix A to this report, 
and the proposed response to the consultation questions forms Appendix B.

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 That the Council’s response to the Government’s White Paper ‘Fixing our 
Broken Housing Market’ (February 2017)’ consultation, as set out in 
Appendix B to the report, be agreed.

3. Background

Outline of the White Paper 

3.1 The initial part of the Government’s White Paper ‘Fixing our Broken Housing 
Market’ (February 2017)’ document illustrates prominent issues of housing 
demand and supply. Throughout much of the country the cost of purchasing 
or renting a house is very high compared to incomes, and house building 
rates are sometimes much lower than the rate required to meet local needs. 

3.2 The introductory chapter also sets out a selection of major challenges in 
increasing new housing delivery:
 Some authorities do not have a Local Plan to tackle the growth in 

households (this does not include Dartford).
 The rate of construction of new homes is too slow (Dartford is however 

achieving record rates of delivery). A large volume of planning 
permissions are not being built out, despite generally favourable 
economic conditions in recent years.

 The structure of the housebuilding market causes difficulties in 
increasing housing supply. Large developers dominate, but the industry 
has lagged behind in becoming more productive, and there has been 
very limited innovation in construction methods.

3.3 The discussion of issues and ideas in the White Paper is balanced over four 
steps/sections of the document:
 Planning for the right homes in the right places.
 Building homes faster.
 Diversifying the market.
 Helping people now.



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

The Government however state they are not consulting on the latter two 
themes (save for one proposal). This latter part of the main document 
includes options to open up the housing market, promoting innovation, 
encouraging institutional and Housing Association investment; and initiatives 
looking at dealing with the varying problems that arise for those seeking 
accommodation.

3.4 The consultation questions therefore focus on a series of new and previously 
proposed refinements to the planning system, and potential changes to the 
2012 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Many ideas are outlined, 
although few proposals are yet at a detailed stage.

3.5 To help understand the range of ideas and initiatives, these have been listed 
and categorised here in Appendix A. The proposed consultation response is 
Appendix B.

4. Overview of Proposed Response to Consultation Questions

4.1 The consultation questions are too numerous and varied for Appendix B to 
be fully summarised. The most common proposed response is ‘agree’, but 
often the issues require more than a simple binary response. 

4.2 General areas of agreement and disagreement with the White Paper are 
outlined below. However it is considered that for some key questions we are 
unable to agree at present on the basis of the information currently available. 
Whilst the White Paper engages with many important technical and 
implementation issues, it defers production of several essential details to 
future consultations. In these instances, it is recommended that Dartford 
reserves its position pending the necessary information being made 
available for consideration of their implications. 

 Areas of agreement
4.3 The need for co-ordinated action to tackle the root causes of national 

housing under-supply and un-affordability is recognised. There is particular 
support for the growing government focus on the inability of the house-
building industry to bring forward sufficient homes of decent quality 
nationally. The proposals for ‘Diversifying the Market’ are overall very 
welcome, including support for local authorities, Housing Associations and 
others, to bring forward more homes. Similarly, the new attention being 
directed towards the structural problems in the housebuilding sector is a 
positive major opportunity. 

  The limited diversity of supply, and the decline in the role of small/ medium 
sized housebuilders over the last decade, are concerning. However it should 
also be recognised from Dartford’s experience that the availability of small 
development sites is only one potentially relevant factor that could help 
speed up delivery (see para 4.7 below).  

4.4 It is considered modern methods of construction and innovation can 
complement and help drive forward the traditional practices of residential 
builders and large housing developers. Unfortunately, few clear details/ 
consultation questions have yet been put forward on this. 



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

4.5 Areas where specific proposals have been put forward that are 
recommended to be largely supported are:
 The measures in support of neighbourhood planning (Questions 12/ 

17).
 The general reiteration of the focus on brownfield land, where not 

undermining the character of the Green Belt (various questions).
 Those ideas in relation to Local Plans that have the impact of 

simplifying the process (Question 1 for example).
 The consideration given to shortening planning permissions, and 

refinements to the planning applications process (Questions 25/ 26 for 
example).

4.6 There is also support for the approach taken to introducing some proposals 
through making provision for transitional arrangements. This approach is 
necessary and should be taken at every opportunity to avoid a hiatus in 
Local Plan preparation and decision making, which would be counter to the 
aims of the White Paper.

 Areas of disagreement

4.7 There are two general reasons for concern over the potential impact of some 
of the proposals. These are:
 Possible impacts of some the more prescriptive changes in policy that 

may undermine the potential for local communities to plan for housing 
needs in the light of local circumstances.

 Potential for aspects of the proposals to embed further complexity in 
development management, and Local Plan production.

4.8 On this basis, it is recommended objection be raised to measures that 
promote applications on small sites and, in particular, the proposal that a 
specified proportion of Local Plan sites be below a certain size. The 
promotion of “windfall” or unplanned sites is also objected to (Question 8).

  
4.9 Such a ‘one size fits all’ solution, does not recognise the diversity of local 

circumstances. It takes away the choice for local communities to determine 
how best to meet local housing needs through the Local Plan in the light of 
their own circumstances, with sites such as minor infill developments not 
always being the preferred option. Smaller sites are less able to contribute 
towards infrastructure requirements and those under 10 units do not support 
provision of affordable housing. With appropriate national policy, Local Plans 
can identify and plan positively for housing, with only the very smallest sites 
left to be identified at the planning application stage.  

4.10 In the case of windfall or unplanned sites, the cumulative impact of these 
can result in undue pressure on infrastructure, since these sites have not 
been taken account of in planning for infrastructure over the lifetime of the 
Local Plan.  

 



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

4.11 Similarly, whilst well designed higher densities can potentially help avoid 
urban sprawl and reduce pressure in Green Belt areas, this matter should be 
led by Local Plan policy, not national standards (Question 14).

4.12 Elsewhere in the White Paper, there are potential concerns over the 
principle and practicality of introducing a complex Housing Delivery Test, in 
addition to the existing Five Year Deliverable Supply requirement. The 
proposal (Questions 28/29) is based on using existing factors and 
approaches but introduces set thresholds and new planning penalties over 
time. Arguably, the main issue arises that whilst the White Paper refers to 
holding the range of parties involved in housing construction to account, this 
blunt tool essentially focuses the impact of reduced delivery due to economic 
downturns (for example) onto local authorities and communities only.

4.13 It is considered that local circumstances must be allowed to be reflected in 
affordable housing policies. An underlying principle of plans for Dartford has 
been to aim to provide a range of affordable residential tenures. If the 
definition of affordable housing needs updating, this should be based on 
clear principles (Question 31) with further elaboration primarily done locally 
focusing on the most locally relevant forms of affordable housing. It is not 
considered that the notion of prescribing the proportion of some specific 
tenures (Question 32) be agreed.

5. Conclusion

5.1 The White Paper puts forward a variety of ideas, principally for further reform 
to planning policy, to increase the pace of housing delivery.  It is considered 
important the Council responds accordingly, reflecting its recent success in 
securing development to address local housing needs.

5.2 Strong support can be afforded to the White Paper objectives and the 
themes identified to be addressed. There are multiple and long-standing 
causes of the undersupply of housing in the country that all need to be 
addressed. 

5.3 Cabinet resolved on 21 January 2016 to submit concerns over previous 
proposed changes to national planning policy. Some of these concerns 
appear to have been taken on board and the White Paper sets out more a 
pragmatic approach, with previous inflexible proposals (for example, quotas 
for Starter Homes delivery, and requirements for authorities to produce a 
‘small sites register’) no longer being  pursued. There remain some concern 
over the potential implications of some planning measures; however the 
White Paper’s ‘direction of travel’ is considered to be generally positive.

5.4 Further information (particularly on the financial and legislative measures to 
diversify and update the housing industry) and the associated details of 
some aspects are keenly awaited. In particular, it is important that full 
consultation occurs on the revised National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), and amended methodologies for deriving housing need. Dartford 
has been seeking amendment to the NPPF to clarify the definition of 
previously-developed land. This has now been held in the Court of Appeal to 



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

include garden land in non-built up areas, which amongst other things 
encourages development in potentially unsustainable/ inaccessible non built 
up areas. This is not included within the White Paper, and perverse 
outcomes will remain unless the NPPF is amended.

5.5 It should also be noted that proposals to amend the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL)/ Section 106 developer contributions system are 
also expected.

5.6 Overall it is considered the White Paper’s measures would likely increase 
national housing supply, and increased supply can help address affordability 
issues. This will best occur if the Government takes note of the lessons of 
plan-led growth in Dartford to meet housing needs; and moreover if it 
ensures incentives as well as penalties are available. In particular, a 
framework for addressing where housing delivery is insufficient should cover 
not just planning authorities, but those parties primarily responsible for 
constructing new homes. Therefore, it is imperative that Government  
speedily brings forward and consults on its specific proposals to challenge 
the private sector as set out as  initial ideas in the White Paper.

5.7 Some significant implications arise from the proposals as a whole, including 
through increasingly prescriptive national policies and of eroding local 
decision making. This is understandable in the context of the failure of many 
local authorities to deliver sufficient housing to meet local needs.  However, 
it is vital local flexibility remains, including maintaining a Local Plan-led 
system that is allowed to respond to the circumstances of Boroughs in 
setting the amount, location and type of housing development.  Accordingly, 
the proposed response in Appendix B is recommended.

6.  Relationship to the Corporate Plan

6.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of 
our communities. 

6.2 To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, to create 
strong and self- reliant communities and deliver high quality services to 
service users. 

7. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications No implications of responding to the consultation. 

Legal Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.

Staffing Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.

Administrative Implications No implications of responding to the consultation.

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

8. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

9. Appendices

Appendix A: A summary of proposed further actions in the White Paper
Appendix B: Proposed response to consultation questions

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Aplin 
(01322) 343202

Planning 
Policy, 
Regeneration 
Services

N/A



APPENDIX A:Summary of Proposed Further Actions Set out in the White Paper

Future consultation on NPPF revisions

 New Duty to Cooperate Statement of Common Ground proposed
 Standardised methodology for calculating Objectively Assessed Needs
 Clearer policies for meeting housing needs for older and disabled people
 Local Plans to have clear strategy for maximising the use of suitable land
 Greater weight for using suitable brownfield land for housing
 Encourage more estate regeneration
 Policies to support development of small windfall sites
 10% of sites allocated for residential development in Local plans to be of 0.5 

hectares or less
 Encourage greater use of Local Development Orders and area wide design 

codes
 Clarification of national Green Belt Policy
 Ensuring the efficient use of land with higher densities
 Likelihood of a site being developed to become a material consideration in 

granting planning permission
 Shortening timescales for implementation for planning permissions from 3 to 2 

years
 New Housing Delivery Test (to be introduced from November 2017)
 Continued support for custom build including retention of CIL exemption 

pending review of developer contributions.
 Proactive support for Build to Rent 
 Starter Homes amendments 
 Clarification of the definition of sustainable development  
 Amendments to the list of climate change factors in the NPPF to include rising 

temperatures 
 Clarification of the application of the Exception Test in addressing flood risk.

Neighbourhood Planning Bill

 Requirement that all areas to be covered by a Plan 
 New powers for intervention in plan making 
 Requirement for Plans to be reviewed every five years 
 Options for different types of Plan to cover an area – not just a single Local 

Plan 
 Strengthening Neighbourhood Planning and Design – including the option of 

obtaining a housing requirement figure for the neighbourhood plan area
 Tackling unnecessary delays due to planning conditions

Other planning consultations or ideas
 Locally accountable New Town Development Corporations to be established 

(New legislation)
 Rationalising of housing standards (further consultation)
 Review of nationally prescribed space standards (subject to review)
 Increase nationally set planning fees (20% from July) (Government)



 Explore fees for appeal (subject to consultations)
 Measure to ensure utilities planning and delivery keep pace with house 

building (Government review)
 Strategic approach to habitat management for protected species – licensing 

across whole area rather than site by site (Roll out of pilot in Woking)
 Reform of developer contributions regime (CIL and S106) (Autumn Statement 

2017)
 Possible material consideration for applicant’s track record of delivery (Views 

being sought) 
 Simplifying the completion notice process (proposal)
 Encouraging greater use of CPO powers to bring forward stalled sites (new 

guidance following consultation)

Specific potential non-planning measures

 Greater transparency on land ownership and options (Land Registry and 
possible further legislation following consultation)

 More flexibility for Local Authorities to dispose of land at less than best 
consideration (views sought)

 New policy requirement for high quality digital infrastructure (subject to 
consultations)

 Restrictive covenants to be reviewed
 Family friendly tenancy agreements (at least 3 years) to be encouraged
 Housing Association rents to be agreed over longer terms to enable borrowing 

against future income
 Homes and Communities Agency to be rebranded as Homes England and 

have a more proactive role in delivering affordable housing 
 More Local Authority house building to be encouraged via Development 

corporations, housing companies and Special Purpose Vehicles
 Off-Site construction to be more widely used through the Government’s 

Accelerated building programme
 Training in construction sector to be enhanced
 New measures to ban letting agency fees and deal with rogue landlords

Summary of Funding Streams referred to in the White Paper

 Home Building Fund (£3bn)
 Housing and Infrastructure Fund (£2.3bn)
 Affordable Homes fund (£1.4bn)
 Starter Homes Land Fund (£1.2bn)
 Business Rate Relief (Local Government Finance Bill) (£60m)
 Land Release Fund (£45m)
 Funding for Local Authorities to engage with local communities on the design, 

mix and location of new homes (£25m)
 Rough Sleepers Fund (£10m)
 Further funding for neighbourhood planning groups (£?)
 New funding to boost capacity and capability of Local planning Authorities 

(£?)



APPENDIX B

1

Housing White Paper 2017: 

Dartford Borough Council Response

Question Dartford Borough Council Response
Question 1 

Do you agree with the proposals to: 

a) Make clear in the National 
Planning Policy Framework that 
the key strategic policies that 
each local planning authority 
should maintain are those set out 
currently at paragraph 156 of the 
Framework, with an additional 
requirement to plan for the 
allocations needed to deliver the 
area’s housing requirement? 

b) Use regulations to allow 
Spatial Development Strategies to 
allocate strategic sites, where 
these strategies require 
unanimous agreement of the 
members of the combined 
authority? 

c) Revise the National Planning 
Policy Framework to tighten the 
definition of what evidence is 
required to support a ‘sound’ 
plan? 

1a) Agree. Consistency and clarity should also be ensured.  Proposals 
in the White Paper should be reviewed to ensure they do not cancel 
each other out. (For example see Question 10). 

1b) Agree

1c) Agree. To ensure evidence does not need continuous updating, a 
clear commitment should be made by government that another 
round of changes to Local Plans/NPPF will not occur until sufficient 
time has elapsed for benefits to materialise/ to allow a full and 
objective review of the impact of all changes already made to the 
system. 

Question 2 

What changes do you think would 
support more proportionate 
consultation and examination 
procedures for different types of 
plan and to ensure that different 
levels of plans work together?

2. The Planning Inspectorate should have the resources to appoint 
Inspectors with sufficiently in-depth understanding and experience 
of Local Plans and strategic planning. This would help promote 
examinations that are more proportionate

In terms of different plans and working together, the White Paper 
disappoints in failing to recognise the lack of practical use and 
impact of current guidance on The Duty to Cooperate. The White 
Paper’s expectation of a Statement of Common Ground does not 
add to current guidance or address these issues. The White Paper is 
perhaps missing opportunities to promote a workable system of 
cross boundary planning.
 

Question 3 

Do you agree with the proposals to: 

3a) Unable* to agree (given available information): specific 
proposals would need to be put forward. National policy / PPG 
already includes a requirement to plan for the needs of older people 



APPENDIX B

2

a) amend national policy so that 
local planning authorities are 
expected to have clear policies 
for addressing the housing 
requirements of groups with 
particular needs, such as older 
and disabled people? 

b) from early 2018, use a 
standardised approach to 
assessing housing requirements 
as the baseline for five year 
housing supply calculations and 
monitoring housing delivery, in 
the absence of an up-to-date 
plan?

and people with disabilities. It is considered that a higher level of 
prescription undermines the ability of local areas to respond to the 
issues which are most relevant to them. Overall, care has to be 
taken to allow local solutions to be found to the complex range of 
challenges already set out for Local Plans to address. 
*= We state “Unable to agree (given available information)” at some 
points in this consultation response as the White Paper lacks some 
key details to allow an informed response. It should not be assumed 
that the Borough Council necessarily does (or does not) object to 
these proposals, this would depend on further information.

3b)  Unable to agree (given available information): specific proposals 
would need to be put forward. National policy / PPG already 
includes extensive provisions, and a limited number of consultants 
undertake most SHMAs, and use models closely aligned with 
national policy i.e. it is largely standardised already. It is not 
apparent what the actual changes would be and therefore what 
implications arise and what advantages would accrue. 
It is the approach to the Duty To Cooperate with regard to accepting 
neighbouring housing need that needs some standardisation, 
consistency and more detailed guidance on how this would operate 
in a fair and effective way for both the donor and recipient 
authorities.  It is unclear what the outcome of the LPEG’s support for 
greater coordination of the ‘geography’ within which the 
calculations would operate is (clarity on Housing Market Areas).
Overall, the benefits of imposing a new approach have not been 
shown so far. And care has to be taken to allow local solutions to be 
found to the complex range of challenges already set out for Local 
Plans to address.  The White Paper mentions “deviating” approaches 
but  local areas must have the flexibility to respond to their own 
specific circumstances

Question 4 

Do you agree with the proposals to 
amend the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development so that: 

a) authorities are expected to have a 
clear strategy for maximising the 
use of suitable land in their 
areas?; 

b) it makes clear that identified 
development needs should be 
accommodated unless there are 
strong reasons for not doing so 
set out in the NPPF?; 

c) the list of policies which the 
Government regards as providing 
reasons to restrict development is 
limited to those set out currently 
in footnote 9 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (so 
these are no longer presented as 

4a)  Unable to agree (given available information): specific proposals 
would need to be put forward.  A revised wording for the 
Presumption is set out in the White Paper annex, but this does not 
include reference to this theme. Focus on the strategy of the local 
authority is welcome in principle, and may work better than a 
national presumption, but it is unclear how they would relate.

It is not apparent what the actual changes would be and therefore 
what implications arise. There is no detail/ indication of what “a 
clear strategy” may be, or what “maximising… land” means, if it is 
not referring to density (see views under 13).

4b) Disagree. The NPPF as it stands or with changes outlined in the 
White Paper does not fully reflect the social and environmental 
dimensions of sustainability as much economic aspects. Highly valid 
issues such as the capacity and quality of infrastructure, of great 
concern, to existing and emerging communities, are not clearly 
grappled with in the NPPF. Therefore a change in wording on 
accommodating needs in plans “unless… specific policies in this 
Framework provide a strong reason for development to be 



APPENDIX B

3

examples), with the addition of 
Ancient Woodland and aged or 
veteran trees? 

d) its considerations are re-ordered 
and numbered, the opening text is 
simplified and specific references 
to local plans are removed?

restricted” (changed wording highlighted) is unlikely to be consistent 
with achieving genuinely sustainable development.

4c) Agree. The clarification with regard to the specific policies 
restricting development would make decision-making much clearer 
and for Dartford Borough Council ensures that areas covered by 
these policies are protected from unplanned development.

4d) Agree.  Dartford would also request an amendment to the NPPF 
to clarify the definition of previously-developed land, as set out in 
Annex 2 of the NPPF.  As this has now been held in the Court of 
Appeal to include garden land in non-built up areas, which puts at 
risk aims to bring large brownfield sites into use, whilst also 
encouraging development in potentially unsustainable/ inaccessible 
non built up areas. This perverse outcome will remain unless the 
current definition in the NPPF is amended. 

Question 5 

Do you agree that regulations 
should be amended so that all local 
planning authorities are able to 
dispose of land with the benefit of 
planning consent which they have 
granted to themselves?

5. Agree. It is not necessary for the Secretary of State to approve of 
local authority land disposal.  Local authorities, as public 
accountable bodies, should be able to freely sell land with planning 
permission to speed up housing delivery. 

Question 6 

How could land pooling make a 
more effective contribution to 
assembling land, and what 
additional powers or capacity would 
allow local authorities to play a 
more active role in land assembly 
(such as where ‘ransom strips’ delay 
or prevent development)?

6. The principle of land pooling is considered a positive one, but the 
LPA does not have further comments to add based on experience.

Question 7 

Do you agree that national policy 
should be amended to encourage 
local planning authorities to 
consider the social and economic 
benefits of estate regeneration 
when preparing their plans and in 
decisions on applications, and use 
their planning powers to help deliver 
estate regeneration to a high 
standard?

7. Agree.

Question 8 

Do you agree with the proposals to 
amend the National Planning Policy 

8a) Agree, given the principle of localism. However there is serious 
concern over the ability of the neighbourhood planning system to 
deal with the cumulative infrastructure impacts of significant growth 
through a series of small sites unless the number of homes is 



APPENDIX B

4

Framework to: 

a) highlight the opportunities that 
neighbourhood plans present for 
identifying and allocating small 
sites that are suitable for 
housing?; 

b) encourage local planning 
authorities to identify 
opportunities for villages to 
thrive, especially where this 
would support services and help 
meet the authority’s housing 
needs?; 

c) give stronger support for ‘rural 
exception’ sites – to make clear 
that these should be considered 
positively where they can 
contribute to meeting identified 
local housing needs, even if this 
relies on an element of general 
market housing to ensure that 
homes are genuinely affordable 
for local people?; 

d) make clear that on top of the 
allowance made for windfall 
sites, at least 10% of sites 
allocated for residential 
development in local plans should 
be sites of half a hectare or less?; 

e) expect local planning 
authorities to work with 
developers to encourage the sub-
division of large sites?; and 

f) encourage greater use of Local 
Development Orders and area-
wide design codes so that small 
sites may be brought forward for 
development more quickly?.

contained within a pre-agreed envelope, with the higher level plan 
having considered the infrastructure implications of the growth.

8b)  Unable to agree (given available information): this is unclear 
and vague – what measure is expected to allow them to “thrive” 
more? Specific proposals would need to be put forward.  There is 
already sufficient incentive in the NPPF for local planning authorities 
to identify villages where housing development could come forward.  
Further prescription on this issue would remove the flexibility for 
authorities to plan appropriately in response to local circumstances 
and protect sensitive designations such as Green Belt and areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, where appropriate.

8c) Disagree. Genuine affordable housing exceptions sites should be 
supported. However undermining the principle of affordable 
exceptions through introducing open market tenure housing on the 
sites is not supported; especially when it could be used to over-ride 
Green Belt policy.

8d) Disagree. The White Paper’s plans to prescribe the approach to 
small sites are unwelcome to Dartford Borough Council. It says 
(paragraph 1.30)“we will: 
• amend national policy to expect local planning authorities to have 
policies that support the development of small ‘windfall’ sites (those 
not allocated in plans, but which come forward on an ad hoc basis); and 

• indicate that great weight should be given to using small undeveloped 
sites within settlements for homes, where they are suitable for 
residential development” [original emphasis].

The tone is prescriptive, whereas it is instead necessary to allow 
local solutions to be found to the complex range of challenges 
already set out for Local Plans to address. Moreover, there are 
genuine sustainable development problems that arise from non-
identified unplanned sites in circumstances, such as Dartford’s, 
where there is an extremely large supply of identified land much of 
it with planning consent  and it is coming forward at great pace.  
However, infrastructure delivery is not keeping up with it.  If these 
amendments are brought in there should be recognition of the 
impact of larger windfall sites, and the sole focus should be on sites 
which necessarily will not be pre-identified (e.g. 4 homes or less) and 
are not by-passing forward planning.  Residents and elected 
representatives in Dartford are aware of the adverse cumulative 
impacts of unplanned developments, including on planning for 
necessary infrastructure, and on the delivery of brownfield or large 
sites. Small sites often have unfair competitive advantages over sites 
that naturally take longer to prepare but make a greater 
contribution to housing needs and bring forward major regeneration 
and better quality use of land. (And under government policy many 
small sites are exempted from any contribution towards affordable 
housing or infrastructure). 
It cannot be assumed that where large sites are identified, that small 



APPENDIX B

5

sites are entirely ‘additional’:  they have the potential to delay and 
even potentially undermine delivery of large sites. Housing supply 
and infrastructure delivery could be decreased.
There is particular objection to specifying “that great weight should be 
given to using small undeveloped sites”. These are greenfield sites; 
some of the most cherished of all locations in towns and villages.

8e) Disagree. Larger sites often are sub-divided and delivered by 
different developers. This can in itself lead to difficulties with co-
ordination and integration and delivery of infrastructure such as 
footpaths If there is not a landowner with a continuing interest 
managing the co-ordination of smaller development parcels to 
deliver an integrated site. This can lead to significant resource 
requirements on the local planning authority and a poorer 
development. A larger developer who will spend a length of time on 
a site also ensures they are committed to quality and completion of 
detailing and so results in a better product as well as delivery of 
necessary infrastructure.

8f) Disagree. LDOs and Area Design Codes require a significant 
resource input for the local planning authority and in the Council’s 
experience do not speed up development in an area where there is 
demand for development and the developers are keen to deliver. A 
housing developer will very often seek to amend a planning 
permission that they did not apply for themselves in order to suit 
their requirements. An LDO would create the same situation and is 
likely in many cases to delay delivery as well as having potential to 
provide a poorer living environment, eg no controls on overlooking, 
lack of ability to require sight lines, safe environments etc.

Question 9 

How could streamlined planning 
procedures support innovation and 
high-quality development in new 
garden towns and villages?

It is considered appropriate, selective streamlining and greater 
clarity and consistency of national policy allied with certainty and 
stability in the system (i.e. a period of some years without 
widespread changes once the White Paper has been delivered), 
would help high quality developments and garden settlements 
innovatively flourish. 
In Dartford Council’s view, the NPPF and the Plan-led system (with 
effective strategic planning- see comments on question 2), can 
provide consistency and clarity, and scope for innovation. Incentives 
in existence/ potentially through the White Paper, promote 
proactive planning for growth and investment, using local 
knowledge to deliver sustainable development. 

Question 10 

Do you agree with the proposals to 
amend the National Planning Policy 
Framework to make clear that: 

a) authorities should amend 

10a). Unable to agree (given available information): the principle of 
protecting the Green Belt is strongly supported, however clear 
guidance is needed in order to be sure that the general scope of 
“examined fully all other reasonable options” is not so wide and 
detailed that Local Plan production becomes even longer and more 



APPENDIX B

6

Green Belt boundaries only when 
they can demonstrate that they 
have examined fully all other 
reasonable options for meeting 
their identified development 
requirements? 
b) where land is removed from 
the Green Belt, local policies 
should require compensatory 
improvements to the 
environmental quality or 
accessibility of remaining Green 
Belt land? 
c) appropriate facilities for 
existing cemeteries should not to 
be regarded as ‘inappropriate 
development’ in the Green Belt? 
d) development brought forward 
under a Neighbourhood 
Development Order should not be 
regarded as inappropriate in the 
Green Belt, provided it preserves 
openness and does not conflict 
with the purposes of the Green 
Belt? 
e) where a local or strategic plan 
has demonstrated the need for 
Green Belt boundaries to be 
amended, the detailed boundary 
may be determined through a 
neighbourhood plan (or plans) for 
the area in question? 

f) when carrying out a Green Belt 
review, local planning authorities 
should look first at using any 
Green Belt land which has been 
previously developed and/or 
which surrounds transport hubs?

complex, and that the principle of local determination is retained.
Consideration needs to be given to the interrelationship of this idea 
with other White Paper proposals. One example is between the 
stipulations on how to explore providing housing in alternative ways 
to amending the Green Belt; and other changes to how strategic 
options are looked at Local Plan preparation. (This is the sensible 
proposal to only require “an” – not “the most” - appropriate 
strategy). It is not clear how the proposals interact.
In theory, the options in question 10 could achieve higher levels of 
housing completions on non Green Belt land e.g. if housing densities 
were pushed up, more dwellings would come from land currently 
identified. 
However the information provided so far on what are “reasonable 
options” is considered likely to fail the aspirations in paragraph 1.38 
of the White Paper “to be transparent about what this means in 
practice”. In Dartford the ‘options’ of estate regeneration and 
surplus public sector land are considered unlikely to yield significant 
opportunities to accommodate growth. 
Moreover, the Council has expressed concern elsewhere in this 
response to the reliance the government is placing on:

 “Optimising the proposed density of development”, and
 The Duty to Cooperate (“exploring whether other 

authorities can help….”).
Factors that are not “reasonable options“ could also usefully be set 
out, and at least partially offset the increased bureaucracy/ need for 
greater resources and time in Local Plan production generated by 
the proposal.
It is unclear from the White Paper why this change needs to be 
made. This proposal may work against achieving the housing 
development-led objectives set out elsewhere in the White Paper. 
Other aspects of national Green Belt policy could instead be 
sharpened to assist in development control and maintenance of 
openness.

10b) Agree. As Green Belt has been principally aimed at maintaining 
the open character of areas (which is not necessarily related to 
biodiversity or human enjoyment of countryside) this would 
however require clarification of the relationship between Green Belt 
and non-openness considerations such as accessibility or visual 
quality. Moreover, the many practical issues arising, including how 
to ensure the compensator improvements occur when these will 
often be in different landownership. 

10c)   Unable to agree (given available information): We are unclear 
as to what the proposed change is as “appropriate facilities for 
(existing) cemeteries” is already an exception under NPPF para 89.

10d) Agree

10e) Agree



APPENDIX B

7

10f) Disagree. It is highly prescriptive to state where, in any local 
area of Green Belt to be removed from the designation, is most 
sustainable to identify for development. 
It must be recognised that, as the NPPF is currently drafted (and the 
Council requests a change to this) previously developed 
“brownfield” land can include residential gardens outside of built up 
areas.  This is not considered a sustainable form of development, 
usually being remote from public transport and other facilities.   
Moreover, sources of brownfield land are scattered across the 
countryside and may be present for purely historical reasons. 
Equally, the impact on openness of development on Green Belt land 
“which surrounds” transport hubs can be major. A clear definition of 
“hubs” is needed, but even if this includes railway stations well 
served by bus routes, these are regularly not located in the centre of 
existing settlements and therefore developing at this location will 
have a major impact on the Green Belt purposes. (And it is also 
noted that the White Paper does not mention issues of railway 
capacity and quality serving the nation’s large employment centres, 
if this commuting is being promoted in this form).
Importantly, the Council is very concerned about the impact on the 
Green Belt - and public reaction - to releasing either brownfield land 
or land by transport hubs, when considered in combination with the 
push in the White Paper for higher densities.  

Question 11 

Are there particular options for 
accommodating development that 
national policy should expect 
authorities to have explored fully 
before Green Belt boundaries are 
amended, in addition to the ones set 
out above?

See answer to Question 10a). Further extending the list of 
considerations to be “explored fully” may be problematic and 
ineffective, slowing the process further.

Question 12 

Do you agree with the proposals to 
amend the National Planning Policy 
Framework to: 

     a) indicate that local planning 
authorities should provide 
neighbourhood planning groups 
with a housing requirement 
figure, where this is sought?; 

     b) make clear that local and 
neighbourhood plans (at the most 
appropriate level) and more 
detailed development plan 
documents (such as action area 
plans) are expected to set out 
clear design expectations; and 
that visual tools such as design 
codes can help provide a clear 
basis for making decisions on 
development proposals?;

12a) Agree. In principle this is accepted, however this will only be 
workable - given the degree of complexity in forming LPA-wide 
housing requirements – if it is clear the LPA has the discretion in 
how it derives a usable neighbourhood housing requirement on a 
flexible proxy basis reflecting the main principles of spatial strategy.

12b) Agree.

12c) Agree.

12d) Unable to agree (given available information): The rationale for 
this is clear, but Local Plans have to be allowed to include sufficient 
detail for this proposal to be workable. Policies providing broad 
coverage on the quality of design have typically not been set out in 
much depth because this has been actively discouraged by 
governments. It needs to be apparent that policies of this kind can 
really be introduced, and will be enforced by the Planning 
Inspectorate. 
In the absence of any indication of the required proposed change to 
the NPPF (or other identified means of delivering this change) on 



APPENDIX B

8

c) emphasise the importance of 
early pre-application discussions 
between applicants, authorities 
and the local community about 
design and the types of homes to 
be provided?; 
d) makes clear that design should 
not be used as a valid reason to 
object to development where it 
accords with clear design 
expectations set out in statutory 
plans?; and 
e) recognise the value of using a 
widely accepted design standard, 
such as Building for Life, in 
shaping and assessing basic 
design principles – and make 
clear that this should be reflected 
in plans and given weight in the 
planning process?

which policies can be based, there is no confidence that Local Plans 
will be allowed to set out sufficient design aspirations.

12e) Agree.

Question 13 

Do you agree with the proposals to 
amend national policy to make clear 
that plans and individual 
development proposals should: 

a) make efficient use of land and 
avoid building homes at low 
densities where there is a 
shortage of land for meeting 
identified housing needs?; 
b) address the particular scope for 
higher-density housing in urban 
locations that are well served by 
public transport, that provide 
opportunities to replace low-
density uses in areas of high 
housing demand, or which offer 
scope to extend buildings 
upwards in urban areas?; 
c) ensure that in doing so the 
density and form of development 
reflect the character, accessibility 
and infrastructure capacity of an 
area, and the nature of local 
housing needs?; 
d) take a flexible approach in 
adopting and applying policy and 
guidance that could inhibit these 
objectives in particular 
circumstances, such as open 
space provision in areas with 
good access to facilities nearby?

13a) Disagree. Although avoiding low density housing can help 
deliver decent quality and quantity (including amenity space) there 
is some concern over how the principle may be applied. A shortage 
of land should not drive and potentially over-ride how the most 
suitable density of development is considered. Decisions should be 
based on their individual quality. This issue appears to be given 
precedence over the sensible other considerations referred to 
question 13c). There is particular concern over higher densities 
being imposed on Green Belt land e.g. brownfield sites.

13b)  Disagree. This is should not be set out nationally as local 
consideration is needed as to whether or not such approaches form 
sustainable development. In any event the definitions of “higher 
density” and “urban locations that are well served by public 
transport” are unclear, unless set out locally. This raises concern 
given the prescriptive tone of the proposals, for both Local Plans and 
planning applications. The principle of better using land currently 
inefficiently used (e.g. out of town retail warehouses) is supported.

13c). Agree. Infrastructure capacity, character and the appropriate 
local form of housing are central to successful living environments. 
In drafting the revised NPPF, great care needs to be taken to ensure 
that these considerations are central to the planning determination 
and are not relegated by other ideas put forward in the White 
Paper.  The definition of sustainable development should place 
these elements at the forefront.  In particular, windfall 
developments that are not supported by adequate infrastructure 
capacity and where there are no proposals to address the shortage, 
should not be approved.

13d) Disagree. There is strong objection to having any general 
pressure to set aside policy on issues such as open space (which has 



APPENDIX B

9

been set out and justified for very good reason). Dartford Council is 
resistant to introducing a vague “flexible” approach without – at 
least - robust and locally derived definition of when the normal 
expectations for good quality developments may be selectively 
relaxed in order to ensure development needed in the Borough is 
brought forward. A “pragmatic” but sensible approach (to daylight 
for example) is already being achieved without government 
intervention.
Moreover avoiding bringing forward open/green space meeting the 
needs of new residents is highly concerning, particularly if just on 
the basis of other “facilities nearby”. This avoids the major issue of 
the quality and types of open space etc people require, where 
additional provision will occur and how it will be delivered (and the 
area may already lack facilities/ be deficient), and maintenance and 
adaptation of existing facilities. 
This proposal has the ability to undermine quality of life and health 
objectives.  ‘Open space’ includes informal space, childrens play 
space, playing fields and allotments, all necessary to lead an active, 
healthy and fulfilled lifestyle.  As the population of an area increases, 
there are additional demands on such space.  Thus development on 
existing open space creates the double whammy of more demand 
for open space from the new residents, coupled with a lower 
amount than that which served a lesser population prior to the 
development.

Question 14 

In what types of location would 
indicative minimum density 
standards be helpful, and what 
should those standards be?

14) Density standards are unlikely to be helpful to Dartford in 
delivering the high levels of new housing already planned. They are 
not supported, especially when there are proposals to review 
national internal space standards for dwellings (see White Paper 
paragraph 1.55; it is not clear why no consultation question has 
been put forward on the direction of this particular review). 
LPAs already face pressure to ensure town centres/ accessible 
locations are efficiently used without central prescription of density 
levels. 
It is accepted higher densities include traditional (and sometimes 
popular) forms of housing such as terraces and mews. Promotion of 
these forms of development would be better achieved by targeting 
and challenging the dominant national housebuilders to become 
more innovative in their design and marketing; not through density 
standards.
It is also possible to have good quality modern flatted development 
as well as houses, for example, but this should be confirmed in the 
full and proper way against local policy – not largely decided on the 
basis of the blunt instrument of standardised density calculations/ 
broadly defined areas.
In short, it should be left to the Development Plan reflecting the 
character, accessibility and infrastructure capacity of specific areas 
within the authority. This will differ from authority to authority, and 
for a number of LPAs it is considered there will be no areas where 
national density standards are warranted.



APPENDIX B

10

Question 15 

What are your views on the 
potential for delivering additional 
homes through more intensive use 
of existing public sector sites, or in 
urban locations more generally, and 
how this can best be supported 
through planning (using tools such 
as policy, local development orders, 
and permitted development rights)?

15) Concerns over inappropriate densities have already been set 
out. Public sector land should not be exempted from these 
considerations.
Disposal and development of public sector land should not be driven 
by the financial desire to use land as intensively as possible.

Question 16 

Do you agree that: 

a) where local planning 
authorities wish to agree their 
housing land supply for a one-
year period, national policy 
should require those authorities to 
maintain a 10% buffer on their 5 
year housing land supply?; 
b) the Planning Inspectorate 
should consider and agree an 
authority’s assessment of its 
housing supply for the purpose of 
this policy? 
c) if so, should the Inspectorate’s 
consideration focus on whether 
the approach pursued by the 
authority in establishing the land 
supply position is robust, or 
should the Inspectorate make an 
assessment of the supply figure?

16a)  Unable to agree (given available information): The principle  of 
this approach is supported as it is an option for LPAs, however on 
the specific question of adding on a 10% buffer there is no evidence 
to support this, no justification is offered at all. The current 
requirement assuming satisfactory delivery would be 5%, and it is 
wholly unclear why this has been doubled.

16b) Agree.  This position should be considered by the Planning 
Inspectorate when judging appeals, in particular the time limit for 
implementation should be limited to a year if the appeal is allowed 
predominantly due to under-delivery.

16c) To avoid duplication of work undertaken for Local Plans, and 
given increasing problems of the Planning Inspectorate (e.g. 
resourcing, inexperienced Inspectors and unreliable/inconsistent 
decision making) it is recommended the Inspectorate focus should 
be on whether the LPA’s approach is robust.

Question 17 

In taking forward the protection for 
neighbourhood plans as set out in the 
Written Ministerial Statement of 12 
December 2016 into the revised 
NPPF, do you agree that it should 
include the following amendments: 

a) a requirement for the 
neighbourhood plan to meet its 
share of local housing need?; 
b) that it is subject to the local 
planning authority being able to 
demonstrate through the housing 
delivery test that, from 2020, 
delivery has been over 65% (25% 
in 2018; 45% in 2019) for the 
wider authority area? 
c) should it remain a requirement 
to have site allocations in the plan 

17a) Agree

17b) Agree

17c) It is considered beneficial for allocations to be made in these 
circumstances.



APPENDIX B

11

or should the protection apply as 
long as housing supply policies 
will meet their share of local 
housing need?

Question 18 

What are your views on the merits of 
introducing a fee for making a 
planning appeal? We would 
welcome views on: 
a) how the fee could be designed in 

such a way that it did not 
discourage developers, 
particularly smaller and medium 
sized firms, from bringing 
forward legitimate appeals; 

b) the level of the fee and whether it 
could be refunded in certain 
circumstances, such as when an 
appeal is successful; and 

c) whether there could be lower fees 
for less complex cases.

18) Agree. The fee structure could be based on a percentage of the 
application fee (maybe 20%). However, the Planning Inspectorate 
must be accountable for delivery of a decision in the same way that 
LPA’s are. For example, appellants could apply for a refund on the 
fee if a decision is not reached within 26 weeks. Ensuring the 
Planning Inspectorate is properly resourced would also reduce 
delays in dates for hearings and public inquiries. Often decisions are 
not issued within the 4-5 week timeframe once the hearing or public 
inquiry has been completed, yet the Planning Inspectorate are not 
accountable for any delay their end. If an appeal is successful the fee 
should be refunded. Householder appeals should remain free. The 
Planning Inspectorate could be more consistent in its procedures – 
often developers choose a public inquiry simply because they are 
aware that that it is the most time consuming and costly appeal 
procedure for a Council. The Planning Inspectorate does not always 
disagree with an appellant’s choice on procedure on the basis of 
published principles.

Question 19 

Do you agree with the proposal to 
amend national policy so that local 
planning authorities are expected to 
have planning policies setting out 
how high quality digital 
infrastructure will be delivered in 
their area, and accessible from a 
range of providers?

19) Agree. This can be made the subject of planning conditions, but 
by specifying targeted broadband speeds or the generation of 
mobile transmission is often out of date by the time a major 
development is complete. Whatever measures are used, 
competition should still be possible – we are finding that deals 
between developers and providers mean that, for example, 
residents have only the option of one provider.

Question 20 

Do you agree with the proposals to 
amend national policy so that: 

 the status of endorsed 
recommendations of the National 
Infrastructure Commission is made 
clear?; and 
 authorities are expected to 
identify the additional development 
opportunities which strategic 
infrastructure improvements offer for 
making additional land available for 
housing? 

20)  Unable to agree (given available information):  Dartford Council 
consider that more information is needed with regard to what the 
endorsed recommendations might relate to before being able to 
comment on this.  
On the second issue Dartford consider that housing growth and 
strategic infrastructure should go hand-in-hand and come forward in 
an integrated and planned manner. We have significant concerns 
that whilst growth continues to be delivered in the Dartford area the 
strategic infrastructure has not come forward which is having an 
adverse impact on the wider area.  In effect, we are in the position 
of having an infrastructure deficit.  There is not a level playing field 
for all authorities in terms of existing infrastructure capacity.  In 
some cases, strategic infrastructure improvements simply address 
the demands of already planned and/or consented development, 
rather than addressing the demands of further development.  
Therefore, it is proposed that national policy requires that existing 
shortfalls are addressed by infrastructure proposals and only surplus 
infrastructure capacity is used to justify additional housing land.
There are wider issues with the delivery of infrastructure which fall 
outside the remit of the NPPF but which, nonetheless, need to be 



APPENDIX B

12

addressed if development is not to be inhibited and local 
communities are to willingly accept new development.  These relate 
to the certainty and timing of strategic infrastructure being 
delivered or funded by central government.   In Dartford’s 
experience, both of these have been poor, which undermines 
developer confidence in bringing forward further housing. 

Question 21 

Do you agree that: 

a) the planning application form 
should be amended to include a 
request for the estimated start 
date and build out rate for 
proposals for housing? 

b) that developers should be 
required to provide local 
authorities with basic information 
(in terms of actual and projected 
build out) on progress in 
delivering the permitted number 
of homes, after planning 
permission has been granted? 

c) the basic information (above) 
should be published as part of 
Authority Monitoring Reports? 

d) that large housebuilders should 
be required to provide aggregate 
information on build out rates?

21a) Disagree. Given that many factors can affect the start date, 
including many issues not related to planning, that the date would 
only be an estimate and would not in any way be binding, any such 
requirement seems to serve little purpose and would not be likely to 
provide any useful data. The requirement to collect such information 
would therefore seem to unnecessarily increase the workload for 
Local Authorities with no identifiable benefit. If such a proposal is 
taken forward it is suggested that this could be done aggregately by 
large housebuilders as proposed in question 21d.

21b) Agree.  This information would be far more useful than the 
estimated information above and would assist local authorities in 
gathering information on actual housing delivery. This information 
would also be very useful for local authorities for other purposes 
such as site monitoring in relation to conditions and / or s106 
requirements and trigger points. However, where a requirement for 
a developer/applicant to provide something is introduced, this raises 
the question of what measures are proposed if the developer fails to 
meet their obligation? Any such requirement needs to be introduced 
with minimal impact in terms of additional workload for local 
authorities.

21c) Agree.

21d) Agree.  It is assumed from this question that as this is to be 
provided as aggregate information from ‘large housebuilders’ (how 
is this term defined?) that this will be provided direct to CLG by the 
relevant housebuilders. It is presumed from this that CLG will then 
make the information publicly available. No concerns are raised with 
this proposal.

Question 22 

Do you agree that the realistic 
prospect that housing will be built 
on a site should be taken into 
account in the determination of 
planning applications for housing on 
sites where there is evidence of non-
implementation of earlier 
permissions for housing 
development?

22) Unable to agree (given available information):  It is not clear how 
the LPA could determine whether the housing would be built or not. 
It is likely that developers would present increasingly sophisticated 
cases to demonstrate this but which would not guarantee that they 
would. The desire of a developer to start construction on site is 
usually reflected in the quality of the planning application. A 
developer who has no intention of starting will submit a very sparse 
outline planning application. A requirement to submit a higher 
standard of application would achieve similar results as this would 
increase the upfront costs for a developer, such that they might 
decide not to start the planning process or buy the land if they 
considered there was a significant cost to the application and 
required documents. The reduction of pre-commencement 



APPENDIX B

13

conditions may encourage developers to put in more detail at the 
application stage. But changes to the outline planning application 
process to make this more onerous would ensure that the local 
planning authority had the detailed required to make a decision on 
an application and would encourage only those committed 
developers to apply.
There may be reasons why a developer has not implemented a 
planning permission previously and refusal of subsequent 
applications will not bring development forward if the applicant 
owns the land and will simply delay development further.
Restricting the time limit to a year where under-delivery is an issue 
for an LPA may be the best way of addressing this issue.

Question 23 

We would welcome views on 
whether an applicant’s track record 
of delivering previous, similar 
housing schemes should be taken 
into account by local authorities 
when determining planning 
applications for housing 
development.

23) Unable to agree (given available information):  This is in Dartford 
Council’s view a commercial consideration not a planning 
consideration and not a judgment that can or should be made by a 
planning officer. What information would be available to the LPA to 
make this judgement?
What would be the consequence if the LPA did take a poor track 
record into account? Would this mean planning permission should 
be refused? Would this only delay delivery further? The Council 
considers that more information needs to be provided with regard 
to how this would work in practice, to give a further example how 
would sites where the applicant is not intending to deliver/ 
construct the houses be dealt with (land assembly/ preparation 
companies)?

Question 24 

If this proposal were taken forward, 
do you agree that the track record of 
an applicant should only be taken 
into account when considering 
proposals for large scale sites, so as 
not to deter new entrants to the 
market?

24) Unable to agree (given available information):  Dartford Council’s 
is unclear from the White Paper what the consequences would be 
for a developer with a poor track record. Large developers are likely 
to own the sites they are applying for rather than have an option on 
them as a smaller developer might have. The Council is not sure how 
this would speed up delivery on sites which are in the ownership of 
large developers.

Question 25 

What are your views on whether 
local authorities should be 
encouraged to shorten the 
timescales for developers to 
implement a permission for housing 
development from three years to 
two years, except where a shorter 
timescale could hinder the viability 
or deliverability of a scheme? We 
would particularly welcome views 
on what such a change would mean 
for SME developers.

25) Agree.  This is an option already available to planning authorities 
and one that DBC use regularly, particularly where the developer has 
advised they cannot meet planning policy requirements due to 
viability and have based the assessment on the current market.
The Council would support the shorter timescales for permissions 
but would suggest that the ability for a longer timescale is still 
allowed for on more complex sites which require a consideration 
amount of pre-commencement work/investigation etc.

SME developers are more likely to have options on sites. A shorter 
timescale on a planning permission could allow the landowner to 
hold the developer to ransom and to put pressure on them to pay 
more money so that the site can be released in time to implement 
the permission.



APPENDIX B

14

Question 26 

Do you agree with the proposals to 
amend legislation to simplify and 
speed up the process of serving a 
completion notice by removing the 
requirement for the Secretary of 
State to confirm a completion notice 
before it can take effect?

26). Agree.  It could be a useful tool for those sites which have failed 
to come forward for several years. But the Council has some 
reservations about the additional resources required to implement 
even a simplified process.  It may not be a tool that has any long 
term benefit.
A tax on developers who have empty buildings which are not being 
used may be a better way to encourage completion, as at present 
there is not necessarily a financial benefit to landlords to bring 
forward the conversion or use of buildings as they pay no tax on 
them. 

Question 27 

What are your views on whether we 
should allow local authorities to 
serve a completion notice on a site 
before the commencement deadline 
has elapsed, but only where works 
have begun? What impact do you 
think this will have on lenders’ 
willingness to lend to developers?

27)  Unable to agree (given available information):  If a developer 
has started on site but then ceased work it is likely that this was 
carried out near to the time that the commencement date was due 
to elapse in order to keep the permission alive. The Council is not 
convinced therefore of the benefit of bringing in this power as the 
commencement deadline is likely to have lapsed by the time the 
notice is served. The Council does not have the appropriate 
experience to advise with regard to the willingness to lend to 
developers.

Question 28 

Do you agree that for the purposes of 
introducing a housing delivery test, 
national guidance should make clear 
that: 

a) The baseline for assessing housing 
delivery should be a local 
planning authority’s annual 
housing requirement where this is 
set out in an up-to-date plan? 

b) The baseline where no local plan 
is in place should be the 
published household projections 
until 2018/19, with the new 
standard methodology for 
assessing housing requirements 
providing the baseline thereafter? 

c) Net annual housing additions 
should be used to measure 
housing delivery? 

d) Delivery will be assessed over a 
rolling three year period, starting 
with 2014/15 – 2016/17?

28a) Unable to agree (given available information):  more clarity is 
needed and full consultation on this proposal is necessary, with all 
changes to the NPPF set out. There are serious concerns about the 
principle of introducing additional set out tests. 
Paragraph 2.47 of the White Paper states: “Having given local 
authorities stronger tools to ensure developers build homes quickly, the 
Government will introduce a new housing delivery test to ensure that 
local authorities and wider interests are held accountable for their role 
in ensuring new homes are delivered in their area.” [Original 
emphasis]. It is considered misguided to assume that the 
refinements and potential ideas for the future within the White 
Paper lead to a situation where LPAs are largely able to determine 
the rate of delivery of new housing by the market, or that the 
measures address or ‘hold accountable’ the role played by other 
organisations. There is currently little control over construction 
rates, and whilst the White Paper discusses some possible 
amendments that may or may not provide some extra 
encouragement for landowners to adjust their price expectations or 
housebuilders to increase delivery rates, it does not confirm what 
extra control over private sector actions will be available for public 
benefit. 

28b)  Unable to agree (given available information):  it should be 
confirmed that Local Plans making sufficient supply provisions 
(above household projections) should not be automatically 
discarded simply because of the date of their production. Dartford’s 
2011 Core Strategy is delivering housing at levels above national 
household projections, as part of its local regeneration strategy. 
Concerns over the lack of clarity on the “standardised approach” 
were set out in response to Question 3b).



APPENDIX B

15

28c) Agree.

28d) Agree.
Question 29 

Do you agree that the consequences 
for under-delivery should be: 

a) From November 2017, an 
expectation that local planning 
authorities prepare an action plan 
where delivery falls below 95% 
of the authority’s annual housing 
requirement?; 
b) From November 2017, a 20% 
buffer on top of the requirement 
to maintain a five year housing 
land supply where delivery falls 
below 85%?; 
c) From November 2018, 
application of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable 
development where delivery falls 
below 25%?; 
d) From November 2019, 
application of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable 
development where delivery falls 
below 45%?; and 
e) From November 2020, 
application of the presumption in 
favour of sustainable 
development where delivery falls 
below 65%?

29a) Disagree. Additional to the concerns about the principle of the 
Test for local decision taking, a number of other issues remain. An 
Action Plan will not be effective in addressing the root causes of lack 
of delivery in places such as Dartford Borough. We are now 
achieving very high levels of delivery but recognise that there were 
periods where slow delivery occurred- but for national economic 
reasons wholly outside of our control.
The government has not committed to any meaningful tools to 
stimulate private sector delivery that can be actioned by LPAs. 

29b) Disagree. This proposes further penalties on LPAs, and may 
increase the risk of environmentally or socially inappropriate 
development.
 
29c) Disagree. This proposal (the Test enacted in 29c-e) is an even 
more blunt tool than the 5 year deliverable supply test in the NPPF, 
despite the further complexity introduced by this additional test.

29d) Disagree. Targets are arbitrary and unjustified by evidence.

29d) Disagree. Although there is an element of transition proposed 
to step up to the 65% proposal, this requirement is considered 
draconian and undermines the principle of a Local Plan-led system. 
Moreover, this policy proposal is completely inflexible in dealing 
with national economic fluctuations over time, and the possibility of 
a recession killing off private delivery. In this event, the LPA and local 
community will be punished by the prospect of unplanned 
development coming forward i.e. housing being permitted on land 
that was not found to be suitable for new homes.

Question 30 

What support would be most helpful 
to local planning authorities in 
increasing housing delivery in their 
areas?

Viability is a central issue and greater clarity and consistency would 
be beneficial. In terms of dealing with major housing applications 
and affordable housing, provided via Section 106 Agreements it 
would be very helpful if Government produced an appropriate, 
agreed, viability assessment tool; included within which would be 
confirmation that the basis of RLV considerations should be EUV+ 
(existing use value plus a premium) reflecting the online PPG  and 
clarifying the NPPF. The aim should be to require private 
transparency by all parties and consistency across development 
sites, with an open book approach in this assessment.

And as stated elsewhere, there is wide demand to allow the public 
and private sector to plan ahead with certainty, without repeated 
restructuring of the planning system and shifts in national planning 
policy.



APPENDIX B

16

Question 31 

Do you agree with our proposals to: 

a) amend national policy to revise 
the definition of affordable 
housing as set out in Box 4?; 
b) introduce an income cap for 
starter homes?; 
c) incorporate a definition of 
affordable private rent housing?; 
d) allow for a transitional period 
that aligns with other proposals in 
the White Paper (April 2018)?

31a) 

Disagree. Whilst the principle of recognising the diverse demands for 
accommodation and housing is recognised, the proposed approach 
is considered to be unclear to new models of affordable housing 
coming forward, and potentially unresponsive in future. The 
structure and wording proposed is unfortunately likely to lead to 
problems in its operation. It is recognised there is a need for policy 
to address the wide range of non- (and sub-) open market housing 
tenures.   However, this is best achieved by providing an over-
arching definition of affordable housing based on clear principles.  
.This would enable the LPA through its Local Plan to guide the level 
and tenure of affordable housing to be provided according to local 
housing need and viability, as determined by robust assessment as 
well as housing waiting lists.  This would be flexible enough to 
respond to the differing needs of areas and responsive enough to 
allow for new models of affordable housing coming forward.
The new definition located within (Box 4 of) the Annex to the White 
Paper should be carefully reconsidered. It may create potentially 
significant issues in how national and local objectives are secured. 
The approach set out is too complex to be workable, and greater 
clarity is needed in a national definition.

The basic features should be defined nationally, leaving scope for 
local determination of which specific tenures are likely to be 
relevant locally. 

It would be useful if Government set out how certain products 
would be provided and by whom; for example Build to Rent 
products and private rented housing and what grant, if any would be 
made available.

In particular, the definition is now proposed to be based on a series 
of ‘models’ of provision that open up uncertainty in what precisely 
does and doesn’t qualify. The reliance on models may be abused by 
those (for example new developers) arguing their particular form of 
housing equates to one of the models and is not actually precluded 
under the ‘definition’ here.  This runs the risk that local needs, as 
identified through assessments, will be squeezed out in preference 
to other forms of ‘affordable’ housing which do not meet local 
priorities.

The government’s intention is presumably to respond to increasing 
flexibility in provision, but the better way to deal with this dynamic 
would be set focus in the definition only on the essential and unique 
requirements e.g. specified levels below market cost and available in 
perpetuity. General attributes, exceptions and typologies should be 
left to supporting text, not the core definition. 

31b)  Agree. This aligns with current requirements for Help to Buy.  



APPENDIX B

17

However, the cost of starter homes will vary widely across the 
country and local variances in housing costs need to be considered; 
support should be targeted to ensure levels are not set too high  
when there are other pressing forms of housing needs in places like 
Dartford.

31c) Agree

31d) Agree. It is assumed this will be based on the the stated 
commitment to “Building on existing practice…” (White Paper 
paragraph A.125), which is supported.

Question 32 

Do you agree that: 

a) national planning policy should 
expect local planning authorities 
to seek a minimum of 10% of all 
homes on individual sites for 
affordable home ownership 
products? 

b) that this policy should only 
apply to developments of over 10 
units or 0.5ha?

32a) Disagree. This should not be a policy/ legislative requirement.  
This should only be determined by local housing need.  In addition, 
local authorities who have an agreement with the Secretary of State 
to build rented homes, by retaining their Right to Buy receipts, may 
be affected by this proposal as they would not be in a position to 
provide home ownership products if the requirement applied to all 
sites.

32b) Disagree. It should be up to the local authority to decide on the 
threshold; based on local housing needs assessments.

Question 33 

Should any particular types of 
residential development be 
excluded from this policy?

33) All forms of genuinely supported housing (not just dwellings 
aimed at the general “retirement” market) and developments built 
by local authorities for affordable/ social rent should be excluded

Question 34 

Do you agree with the proposals to 
amend national policy to make clear 
that the reference to the three 
dimensions of sustainable 
development, together with the 
core planning principles and policies 
at paragraphs 18-219 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, together 
constitute the Government’s view of 
what sustainable development 
means for the planning system in 
England?

34) Unable to agree (given available information):  this is asking 
whether or not the bulk of the whole NPPF should be regarded as 
what sustainable development is in England. However, the NPPF is 
due for a series of changes (outlined in varying degrees of brevity in 
the White Paper). It is suggested that that reasons for posing this 
question, and the actual changes to the NPPF are set out before 
positing this query. Dartford Borough would recommend that the 
government focusses on the three dimensions in confirming what is 
genuinely sustainable development, and the original definition in 
relation to meeting the needs of present generations without 
compromising the ability of all future generations to meet their own 
needs in future. A requirement for adequate infrastructure capacity 
to support new development should be emphasised in the 
definition.   Moreover, it is considered the revised NPPF should 
retain and enhance and better integrate the “core planning 
principles” currently found in NPPF paragraph 17.

Question 35 

Do you agree with the proposals to 
amend national policy to: 

a) Amend the list of climate 
change factors to be considered 
during plan-making, to include 

35a) Agree.

35b) Agree. This principle is accepted; however the controls to 
achieve this are commonly outside the power of LPAs, for example 
the ability to set better energy efficiency requirements has been 
removed.  



APPENDIX B

18

reference to rising temperatures? 

b) Make clear that local planning 
policies should support measures 
for the future resilience of 
communities and infrastructure to 
climate change?

Question 36 

Do you agree with these proposals 
to clarify flood risk policy in the 
National Planning Policy 
Framework?

36) Agree. 

Question 37 

Do you agree with the proposal to 
amend national policy to emphasise 
that planning policies and decisions 
should take account of existing 
businesses when locating new 
development nearby and, where 
necessary, to mitigate the impact of 
noise and other potential nuisances 
arising from existing development?

37)  Agree.

Question 38 

Do you agree that in incorporating 
the Written Ministerial Statement 
on wind energy development into 
paragraph 98 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, no 
transition period should be 
included?

38)  Agree.



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

BUSINESS RATE POOL: USE OF POOL FUNDS 

1. Summary

1.1 This report seeks Members’ agreement for the use of the joint regeneration 
pot within the business rate pooling funds towards the Council’s contribution 
to the Thames Gateway Kent Partnership and to support the Dartford Town 
Centre Regeneration project.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That Cabinet agrees a sum of £58,000 be drawn down from the joint 
regeneration pot of the business rate pooling funds as the contribution towards 
the work of the Thames Gateway Kent Partnership as set out in the report.

2.2    That Cabinet agrees that the balance of the joint regeneration pot be used to 
support the Dartford Town Centre Regeneration project.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Cabinet agreed at its meeting on 22 October 2015 (minute number 57) 
to join the Kent Business Rate Pool for 2016/17. The pool allows the 
Kent authorities to pool their business rates, giving them scope to 
retain additional growth through collaborative effort, and to smooth the 
impact of volatility in rates income across a wider economic area. The 
pool creates the potential for the levy paid under the Business Rates 
Retention scheme to be reduced, thus retaining more resources in the 
local area.

3.2. Within the pool, the additional income to the Council is divided 30% to 
the Borough; 30% to Kent County Council to be used to the benefit of 
growth throughout the pool area; 30% to joint regeneration projects in 
the Borough area; and 10% to a contingency pot to authorities within 
the pool that fall into a safety net position.

3.3. Provisional figures for 2016/17, based on the latest business rates 
return, show a benefit to the Council of being in the pool of £958,000. 
Based on this estimate, there would be an additional £287,000 of 
income to the Council, £287,000 to Kent County Council and a further 
£287,000 available to be spent on joint regeneration projects in the 
Borough area, with the balance of £97,000 to be put in the contingency 
pot.

3.4. Dartford Borough Council, alongside Swale Borough Council, 
Gravesham Borough Council, Medway Council and Kent County 
Council, are members of the Thames Gateway Kent Partnership. This 
partnership aims to help create the conditions to support sustainable 
economic growth and prosperity in the Thames Gateway Kent area and 
promotes North Kent and its opportunities. The Council’s agreed 
contribution to the work of the Thames Gateway Kent Partnership is 



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

£28,000, with Swale Borough Council and Gravesham Borough 
Council making a contribution of the same level, Medway Council’s 
contribution being £45,000 and Kent County Council’s contribution 
being £90,000. In addition to the Council’s contribution, it has been 
provisionally agreed by the three borough councils that they will pay a 
third each of Kent County Council’s contribution from the business 
rates pool. It is therefore proposed that a sum of £58,000 is drawn 
down from the 30% joint regeneration projects share of the business 
rates pool to cover the contribution from both the District Council and 
Kent County Council. 

3.5. It is also proposed to use the balance of the joint regeneration pot 
(currently £229,000 based on the provisional figures for 2016/17) 
towards the Dartford Town Centre Regeneration project which will see 
improvements to both the public realm and highway links within the 
town centre. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

This support the ‘Economic Development and Regeneration’ theme 
through improving economic performance of the town centre.

It also supports the ‘Environment and Sustainability’ theme by 
promoting an environment which is attractive and which provides a 
realistic choice of travel options.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The Business Rates Pool is performing well for 
2016/17, based on the latest monitoring information. 
The figures quoted within this report for the pool 
shares are provisional figures based on quarter 3 
monitoring for 2016/17. The joint regeneration pot 
can be used to meet the Council’s contribution 
towards the Thames Gateway Kent Partnership as 
the work of this partnership will support regeneration 
within the Borough thus meeting the purpose of this 
funding pot. If the outturn figures show that the pool 
shares have reduced, then the proposed 
contribution towards the town centre project will be 
reduced accordingly.

Legal Implications
 

Pools are established under paragraph 34 of 
Schedule 7B to the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 (as inserted by Schedule 1 to the Local 
Government Finance Act 2012). 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment If the pool’s performance deteriorates in the last 



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

quarter of the financial year, then the contribution 
towards the town centre project will be reduced 
accordingly.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Business rate pooling data 
collated across the Kent 
authorities

Sarah Martin
(01322) 343402

Strategic 
Director 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A





CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

STREET  NAMING & NUMBERING – LAND NORTH OF HEDGE 
PLACE ROAD

Stone

1. Summary

To approve two new road names for the development of the land to the 
north of Hedge Place Road.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That Fairlawn and Swansfield be approved as the two new road names for the 
development of the land to the north of Hedge Place Road.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. This is a piece of land to the north of Hedge Place Road with approval 
for 56 dwellings over two new roads and one existing road.  The plot 
borders Hedge Place Road and the Waterstone Park development.

3.2. The proposed names were submitted for consultation with a plan (as 
shown in Appendix A) to Members, Emergency Services, Royal Mail, 
the Parish Council and the Developer on February 27th 2017.  The 
names comply with the Council’s policy on Street Naming.

3.3. Councillors Coleman, Lloyd, Shippam and Mrs Allen have no 
objections to the names.  Neither do Royal Mail or Kent Police.

3.4. There were no other responses.

3.5. Suitable suffixes will be chosen once the final road names have been 
approved.

3.6. The Developer requires the name as soon as possible to ensure that 
the utilities are connected. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications It is open to the developer to object in the 
Magistrates’ Court to a street naming.  If the 
developer’s suggested names are in accord with 
Council Policy, it is likely that the Magistrates will 
rule in favour of the developer.



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A – Consultation Hedge Place Road

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
Consulted

Date / 
File Ref

Report 
Author

Section and 
Directorate

Exempt 
Information 
Category

Street Naming and 
Numbering Guidance

Dec 2013 Samantha 
Eastwood

Property Information 
(Internal Services)

N/A



C:
\U

se
rs\

se
as

tw
oo

d\D
es

kto
p\M

ap
 Te

mp
lat

es
\P

I_M
ap

pin
g_

A4
_L

an
d_

da
te.

mx
d

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 B

y: 
se

as
tw

oo
d O

n: 
27

/02
/20

17
 09

:34
 A

M

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with  the permission of the Contro ller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2015

Unauthor ised reproduction 
In fr inges Crown C opyright and 
May lead to  prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council  100025870  2015

@ A4°1:2,500

APPENDIX A





                             
CABINET

13 APRIL 2017

ORCHARD THEATRE: AUDITORIUM SEATING 

1. Summary

1.1   The Orchard Theatre operator, HQ Theatres, wish to replace the auditorium 
seating to meet health and safety requirements. Members are asked to note 
the capital contribution that the Council is required to pay towards these 
works in accordance with the lease. Provision for this contribution has been 
made within the 2017/18 Capital Programme.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note that a contribution of £40,546.75 will be required from the 
Council towards the cost of replacement auditorium seating in accordance 
with the Orchard Theatre lease.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The front rostra in the auditorium is a moveable tiered structure at the 
front of the stalls and supports 122 auditorium seats. This area is made 
up of a light tubular steel framework on castor wheels and is extended 
above in seating tiers by a plywood framework supporting a plywood 
floor covering beneath the carpet. The seats are bolted down to the 
flooring.

3.2. There are a number of problems with the front stalls construction:

 There is delamination of the timber framework plywood which 
has caused some loss of effective support to the first tier 
framework and front row seat walkway. This in turn has raised 
queries regarding the stability of the handrail system that 
protects the fall into the Orchestra Pit.

 The spans in the plywood floor covering are too large for theatre 
loadings and the floor in places is showing noticeable movement 
in the vertical plane.

3.3. The Orchard Theatre operator, HQ Theatres, have received a report 
from consulting civil and structural engineers, Reuby and Stagg Ltd, 
which recommends that the front rostra and front rails are replaced due 
to the health and safety issues identified above. The quote received for 
this work is in the sum of £52,225.05.

3.4. In accordance with the cost sharing provisions within the lease 
between the Council and HQ Theatres, the tenant must pay 50% of the 
first £20,000 of the costs, indexed to reflect the increases in the 
Consumer Price Index since the start of the contract. This equates to a 
contribution of £11,678.30. The Council must bear the balance of the 
cost at £40,546.75. 



                             
CABINET

13 APRIL 2017

3.5. HQ Theatres wish to undertake these works during a ‘dark period’ in 
July 2017. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

HW2 Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, cultural 
and leisure opportunities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The Council’s contribution towards the cost of the 
works, as per Schedule 4 to the lease, Part 2, is 
£40,546.75. The Capital Programme for 2017/18 
includes a provision for works to the Orchard Theatre 
of £50,000. No further works to the Theatre are 
planned in 2017/18.

Legal Implications

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

Crime and Disorder Duty

The lease between the Council and the theatre 
operator is quite specific as to the responsibilities of 
both parties for the theatre plant and equipment. In 
accordance with Schedule 4 (Part 2) of the lease, the 
theatre operator must pay 50% of the first £20,000 of 
costs (plus indexation) with the Council paying the 
balance. 

None

None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

These works will be undertaken during a ‘dark period’ 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None



                             
CABINET

13 APRIL 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Sarah Martin
(01322) 343402

Internal 
Services

N/A





CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 38: RESPONSE TO A2 BEAN AND EBBSFLEET 
JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS PUBLIC CONSULTATION 

1. Summary

1.1 To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing Order 
38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the 
Managing Director, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to 
the Council’s response to the Highways England public consultation on 
proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in relation to the 
Council’s response to the Highways England public consultation on 
proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Standing Order 38 concerns the delegation of urgent and routine 
matters.  Standing Order 38(2)(a) provides for the delegation to each 
member of the Management Team the authority to act in respect of any 
function of the Cabinet, a Committee, Board or Panel which in his/her 
opinion is either urgent or of a routine nature, subject however to 
members of the Management Team first consulting with the Chairman 
or Vice-Chairman of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or Panel 
responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of Reference.  
Standing Order 38(2)(b) requires that a report of the action taken, 
including a note of the circumstances which made it necessary, must 
be made to the next meeting of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or 
Panel responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of 
Reference.

3.2. Cabinet is asked to note the actions of the Managing Director, as 
specified in Appendix A, taken under delegated authority and in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to the Council’s 
response to the Highways England public consultation on proposed 
improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – The report which relates to the Council’s response to 
the Highways England public consultation on 
proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and 
Ebbsfleet junctions.

Appendix B – Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters Standing 
Order 38 form.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



DELEGATION OF URGENT AND ROUTINE MATTERS 

STANDING ORDER 38 

Report relating to the proposed A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junction improvements 

Background 

The proposed improvement to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions have long been 
identified as being necessary to support the level of development growth identified in 
Dartford Borough and Gravesham. As strategic junction improvements they have been 
included in the Strategic Transport Programme (STIP). 

Traffic forecasting undertaken by Highways England has forecast traffic flows to increase at 
Bean junction in 2041 by 50% and by 170%-200% at Ebbsfleet junction.  Highways England 
has acknowledged that work needs to be carried out at both junctions and is seeking to bring 
forward the junction as a single scheme. 

The project is currently at Highways England Project Options Stage 1: Option Identification. 
Highways England is carrying out public consultation following which they will make a 
recommendation for the Preferred Option. 

Consultation and programme 

The applicants have held 5 public consultation events in Bean and Ebbsfleet and have 
deposited brochures at libraries and public venues in the area. The Highways England 
website has details of the scheme and an email with the website details was sent to the 
Borough Council and other stakeholders inviting comment.  

The schemes are likely to be designated as Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects 
(NSIP) and will therefore be subject to examination by a Planning Inspector and a decision 
by the Secretary of State. However, this stage of public consultation is not part of the formal 
NSIP consultation and is the Highways England Stage 1 Options consultation in order that 
they can take into comments from stakeholders before a preferred option is announced. 

The indicative project schedule is: 

Stage 1 Options public consultation – ends 1st March 2017 

Preferred route/option announcement – Autumn 2017 

Submission of Development Consent Order (NSIP application) – Summer 2018 

Development Consent Order granted – Early 2020 

Commence construction – Spring 2020 

Improvements fully open to traffic – end of 2022 

APPENDIX A



The Proposal and submitted documents 

The consultation seeks comments on only 1 option: a combined project of Option 5 at Bean 
and Option 1 B at Ebbsfleet. Although the assessment documents published as part of the 
consultation do assess other options for Bean they are discounted as not viable. 

In summary the proposal is as follows (Plans attached at Appendix A): 

Bean Junction Option 5: retains the existing junction layout but with the existing roundabouts 
enlarged and converted to full traffic signal control. A new bridge over the A2 for southbound 
traffic is provided to the east of the existing Bean Road Overbridge, which is retained for 
northbound traffic. An additional slip road is provided from the Ightham Cottages roundabout 
connecting directly to the A2 carriageway. The existing A2 eastbound slip road along Watling 
Street is maintained. The B255 southbound (St Clements Way)  merge onto Watling Street 
is closed so traffic travelling south on St Clements Way will get onto the A2 via  the new 
eastbound slip. Local traffic travelling east along Watling Street will still be able to travel 
directly onto the A2 but will not have to merge with traffic coming off St Clements Way.  

Ebbsfleet junction Option 1b: Retains the existing junction layout but with the existing 
roundabouts enlarged to provide for full traffic signal control. Access is provided onto the 
Station Quarter South and Ebbsfleet Green developments. The existing eastbound and 
westbound off slips are maintained. The east bound on-slip is widened to two lanes and 
separated from the one-way link to the Pepper Hill junctions. The westbound on-slip is 
widened but it is not clear whether the one-way southbound link to Park Corner Road is 
retained, it appears from the plans to be closed. 

The other options assessed in the submission are summarised below to provide context for 
Highways England choice of Option 5.  These do not include the loss of Ightham Cottages. 

Bean Option 3: Replaces the existing double roundabout layout with a single large traffic 
signal controlled gyratory with two structures crossing the A2, the existing Bean Road 
Overbridge and a new bridge crossing located to the west, directly behind Hope Cottages. 
The only slip road onto the A2 eastbound is the existing one along Watling Street which is 
widened. It would result in the loss of 3 of the properties at Hope Cottages and reduce the 
rear gardens of a further three. The proposal had a significant impact on the historic 
environment and biodiversity.  There was no separation of southbound traffic from St 
Clements Way. The cost of the scheme was also very high and exceeds budget.  

It is considered that this option would mix local traffic along Watling Street with the traffic 
merging from the south and north, as it does currently, which could at times of incidences 
continue to create tail backs along Watling Street and also back up from the Eastern Quarry 
southern exit (Washmills), once this route is built out for traffic from the development. The 
congestion along Watling St would be greater than the tail backs which currently occur, 
given the projected increase in traffic.  This option would create a worsened environment for 
both Hope Cottages and Ightham Cottages.   

Bean Option 4b: Provides a redesigned dumbbell arrangement comprising two new 
roundabouts located either side of the A2. A new bridge crossing the A2 is provided on the 
new link road (again directly to the rear of Hope Cottages) and the existing Bean Road 
Overbridge is demolished.  This option includes a new eastbound on-slip to the A2. 



This option would have an impact on Ancient Woodland and has a high cost which exceeds 
the scheme budget.  

It is considered that this option would be likely to result in a worsened environment for both 
Hope Cottages and Ightham Cottages. 

The road schemes are not fully designed at the moment and therefore the detailed impacts 
of the design are not known at present. 

An Environmental Assessment Report (EAR) has been made available as part of the 
consultation which starts to consider the impacts and proposed mitigation for the junction 
options. Since the scheme has not yet been subject to detailed design not all impacts can be 
assessed fully. The EAR assesses all three options in order to understand the impacts of the 
options. 

Comments 

The limited transport assessment/modelling figures, which officers have seen prior to this 
consultation, show that the proposed Options 5 and 1b will accommodate the traffic 
anticipated to arise at the modelled year of 2041. Highways England has modelled all the 
identified development within the Core Strategy (and that of neighbouring Boroughs) and 
has applied a standard growth factor to development beyond 2026. However, as this is such 
a long time horizon, it is not clear whether this growth factor will accommodate increased 
growth that might come forward in the area as part of the new Local Plan, beyond that 
identified. On the other hand, some of the trip rates assumed by Highways England are high 
and do not reflect the high density commercial development with low parking provision which 
is proposed to be brought forward in the area.  As these factors may balance each other out, 
the assessment is considered to be robust. 

The traffic modelling data, however, has not been made available as part of this consultation 
exercise. Although anticipated flows through the junctions are provided, there is no detail on 
the queues that could result at the junctions. Bean Option 5 and Ebbsfleet Option 1b 
appears to provide sufficient capacity to meet the needs of the development coming forward 
in the area and the existing traffic.  But without the details of queueing on the proposed 
junction KCC highways advises it is difficult to determine, whether the proposed junction 
improvements will provide sufficient capacity to deal with the anticipated growth without 
retaining queues. It is also worth noting that not all the growth proposed in the Dartford area 
will result in trips onto the A2.  One of the key objectives of the Local Plan is to enable 
sustainable growth where peak trips are by means other than the car and housing is located 
with access to local facilities.  

The combined Option Bean 5 and Ebbsfleet 1b is considered to be best option of those put 
forward for consideration by Highways England and improves the conflict with local 
eastbound traffic along Watling Street and eastbound traffic travelling from the north. The 
EAR demonstrates that they have the least impact on the natural and historic environment 
which technical advisors have confirmed.   

It is extremely concerning that the proposal would result in the loss of Ightham Cottages and 
the Horse Sanctuary. The open aspect to the rear (west) of the cottages Hope Cottages is 
retained but the junction will result in a high level of traffic in close proximity to these 



dwellings still. The alternative schemes, showing the retention of Ightham Cottages, results 
in a very poor environment for these residents as the road would be closer and a new road 
would also run directly to the west of Hope Cottages. Option 3 also results in the loss of 
some of these cottages. Given the proximity of both groups of houses it is inevitable that 
there will be some impact on the properties. The alternative options do not result in the loss 
of as many homes but it is considered that they would result in a very poor and unhealthy 
living environment.  It is questionable whether they would be acceptable living environments,   
The Council is most concerned that the extent of the impact on the Horse Sanctuary is 
unclear at present which Highways England has acknowledged. Once more detail is known 
we would require that officers can work with them to mitigate the impact of the proposed 
change and assisting with finding a site for an alternative facility.  

Option 5 has the potential to provide a more direct pedestrian and cycle connection between 
Bean and Greenhithe than the other options, which supports the Local Plan objectives of 
encouraging non car transport modes. 

The consultation at this stage is not seeking a detailed technical input from the Council and 
its technical advisors and indeed the full information behind the Environmental Assessment 
Report and the transport modelling has not been submitted for our consideration.  

It is therefore difficult at this stage for the Council to provide detailed comments on the 
options or the impacts, as the assessment results are not available to enable proper 
consideration by the Council or their advisors of the detailed impact and the mitigation 
needed. The response on the consultation is an opportunity therefore to confirm the 
Council’s support and encouragement for the proposed junction improvements and to draw 
Highways England’s attention to areas where the Council consider that more clarity will need 
to be provided when the application is submitted.  

The suggested response from the Council is set out in the attached paper which reproduces 
the questions asked by Highways England. 

Conclusion 

Bean Option 5 and Ebbsfleet Option 1b appear to provide sufficient capacity to meet the 
needs of the development coming forward in the area and the existing traffic, but the 
resilience of this junction at times of incidences or peak Bluewater trips is not clear. The 
design has also sought to minimise land take and impact as far as possible. The bringing 
forward of these junctions as one project is welcomed in order to ensure that these are both 
delivered within the same timescale.  However, further detail is needed to understand the full 
impact of the proposal and ensure adequate and appropriate mitigation.  

Recommendations: 

1) That Highways England are advised of the Council’s support for Bean Option 5 and 
Ebbsfleet Option 1b.  

2) Urge Highways England to bring forward the junction improvements as quickly as 
possible. 

3) That the formal comments as attached are submitted to Highways England. 
  



Dartford Borough response to Highways England questions: 

1. How concerned are you about the current issues: 
 

Ease of turning onto/off the A2 at Bean junction Very concerned 

Journey times travelling around Bean junction Very concerned 

Ease of turning onto/off the A2 at Ebbsfleet junction Concerned 

Journey times travelling around Ebbsfleet junction Concerned 

Provision of footpaths, cycleways and crossings at Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions 

 Very Concerned 

Road safety at the junctions Very concerned 

Air quality around the junctions Very concerned 

Bean Junction 

2. How often do you use the Bean junction 
N/A 

 
3a To what extent do you agree or disagree that the Bean Junction proposal will 
achieve the following objectives? 

Support the economic and housing growth proposed for the north Kent area  

 Strongly Agree 

Improve the capacity of the Bean junction and minimise the impact on the A2  

 Neither Agree or Disagree 

Improve journey times at the Bean junction  Neither Agree or Disagree 

Improve road safety at the Bean junction  Agree 

Minimise impact on the environment at the Bean junction  Agree 

Provide value for money Strongly Agree 

3b Please provide details to illustrate your answers 

The Borough Council has identified significant growth in the Borough over the Local Plan 
period and beyond 2026. The A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junction improvements have long been 
identified to meet the needs of this growth and are included within the Strategic Transport 
Programme to provide the strategic road improvements need to support the additional 
development. 

The Council has some concerns that the transport modeling work and full assessment of the 
junction proposals has not been made available as part of the consultation. No details have 
been made available with regard to queue lengths at the proposed junction. The Technical 



Appraisal Report acknowledges that the operation of the Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions are 
affected by the capacity of the A2 mainline but that the study’s remit does not cover this. The 
Council considers that the junction proposals should not be considered separately from the 
A2 mainline capacity but that the junction proposals should allow for widening of the A2 in 
order to provide additional capacity. The proposed Option 5 by retaining the existing Bean 
Road bridge does not allow for this future widening. 

The Council also has concern that the limited increase in the size of the roundabouts at the 
junction does not allow for additional queuing capacity should this become necessary, either 
in the future, from peak events at Bluewater or as a result of incidences on the wider 
strategic network. 

The Council acknowledges and supports the fact that Bean Option 5 has been designed to 
minimise landtake and therefore impact on the SSSI, Ancient Woodlands and Ancient 
Monuments and that the option has sought to minimize impacts on the environment 
generally. However there is still potential for considerable impact and more assessment and 
information is needed to understand the extent of this impact and agree appropriate 
mitigation. 

The environmental issues still need to be considered in detail: 

Air quality:  

Bean interchange has been declared as an AQMA due to exceedances of the annual mean 
nitrogen dioxide objective. The AQMA encompasses the properties at Ightham Cottages, 
which are to be lost to the scheme. 

Properties to the South of the junction (Hope Cottages) are also exposed to high levels of 
pollution although monitoring of the existing situation has indicated levels to be slightly below 
objective level.  

The assessment has predicted that levels of NO2 will be reduced at the nearest receptor at 
Hope Cottages due to a decrease in traffic flows on these roads, however the consultation 
document states the traffic using the junction is predicted to increase by up to 60% by 2037. 
London Bound traffic leaving Bluewater and traffic travelling from the East accessing 
Bluewater will still all pass these properties. 

The Council is concerned that the model used hasn’t fully assessed the impact of the 
proposed junction improvements at peak times when there is congestion.  

Dartford Borough Council currently has an air quality monitor located at Ightham Cottages, 
which is located on land that will be lost as part of the development. It is important that this 
monitor is replaced in order to monitor the effectiveness of the scheme. Should the 
predictions of the assessment not transpire and an AQMA is created to the south of the 
junction then provisions should be made to mitigate this.  

Air quality and noise should consider impacts on the new dwellings identified in the Local 
Plan, most of which have been granted planning permission and are being delivered as part 
of the new Ebbsfleet Garden City. Many of these houses will be occupied by scheme 
completion and so may require mitigation. 



Archaeology: 

Intrusive investigation will be required prior to detailed design at both junctions.  

Bean Option 5 would appear to have least impact on the Scheduled Monument Darenth 
Wood enclosure and on these grounds would be preferable to the other options. It will be 
important however that care is taken during the design stage to ensure that the setting is not 
adversely affected and if possible enhanced. Visual assessments should be carried out 
before the design is finalised. The advice of Historic England should be sought in terms of 
the impact on designated assets and mitigation required. The EAR contains a number of 
inaccuracies (see question 10 for further comments) which should be corrected in a more 
detailed desk based assessment for the next stage of design. For example there is no 
‘causeway enclosure’ within Darenth Wood and 577 should in fact be located on the Thames 
coast to the north. The statement in Section 9.9.1 of the EAR (Cumulative Effects) that as 
much of the development is occurring in previously developed land ‘survival of 
archaeological remains is unlikely’ is misleading as archaeological remains may well survive 
within and immediately adjacent to previously developed areas (see Ebbsfleet comments). It 
is also likely that presently unknown archaeological remains will be survive within the area of 
proposed development which will require further desk based assessment and probably field 
evaluation 

Ecology 

The submitted information provides limited information about the habitats which will be 
impacted by the proposed development. The Council will seek further specific species 
surveys to be carried out and submitted, this should not be limited to dormice or reptiles as 
suggested. An ecological survey should highlight the likelihood of protected /notable species 
being present. 

4a Overall to what extent do you agree with the proposed option for Bean 
Junction 

Agree 

4b Please provide details to illustrate your answers 

The Council is keen to bring forward the delivery of improvements at Bean junction as soon 
as possible.  However, it does have some concerns that the Options put forward have been 
limited by budget constraints rather than taking a more holistic far-reaching view which 
would allow for an optimum option which builds in additional capacity and allows for 
widening of the A2. The Council would not wish to see the delivery of these junction 
improvements to be delayed any further than the end of 2022. 

The Council is extremely disappointed that Option 5 would result in the loss of the homes of 
Dartford residents. But the creation of a worsened environment for these residents should 
the properties have been retained could not be supported by the Council. The Council will 
insist full and proper consideration is given to the needs of occupants and that every 
possible support, financial and otherwise is provided to mitigate their loss. 

The Council would like to understand further the impact of the proposed option on Hope 
Cottages as the increase in traffic using the junction and the proximity of the junction to 



these cottages is likely to result in a poorer environment for these residents, which should be 
mitigated. The Council would also like to understand the landtake that may impact on these 
properties. As Highways England is aware the Council is the owners of numbers 1, 5, 10, 11, 
13 and15 Hope Cottages. 

The Council is also extremely concerned that the proposal appears to result in the loss of the 
Horse Sanctuary and would insist upon working with Highways England to provide a 
replacement site which is suitable for the operator of the site in terms of accessibility and 
proximity. 

5. Are there any local issues that you feel we should be aware of in developing 
our proposals around the Bean junction? Please provide details to illustrate your 
answers: 

Construction impact: given the proximity of this trunk road junction to other strategic 
junctions and the level of traffic that uses this junction at present the construction of the 
junction improvements are likely to cause significant impact over a wide area. The 
construction works need to be planned carefully and avoid further congestion by 
coordinating with other proposed road improvements e.g. St Clements Way junction and 
other major developments coming forward. 

Reducing the period of construction, as suggested in the consultation, would be welcomed 
by the Council. 

Non-motorised users: The north-south footpaths and cycleways at Bean junction are 
currently poor quality, narrow, are not very direct and involve vertical changes. The Council 
would urge that the opportunity is taken as part of these junction improvements to ensure 
improved connections between Bean and Greenhithe in the north.  Sufficient width on the 
bridges should be provided to facilitate segregated cycleways and footways. 

The loss of the homes of Dartford residents is a key local issue which the Council is 
extremely concerned about. The Council will insist full and proper consideration is given to 
the needs of occupants and that every possible support, financial and otherwise is provided 
to mitigate their loss. 

The Council is also extremely concerned that the proposal appears to result in the loss of the 
Horse Sanctuary and would insist upon working with Highways England to provide a 
replacement site which is suitable for the operator of the site in terms of accessibility and 
proximity. 

Ebbsfleet junction 

6. How often do you use the Ebbsfleet junction 

N/A 
 

7a To what extent do you agree or disagree that the Ebbsfleet Junction proposal 
will achieve the following objectives? 

Support the economic and housing growth proposed for the north Kent area  

 Strongly Agree 



Improve the capacity of the Ebbsfleet junction and minimise the impact on the A2  

 Neither Agree nor Disagree 

Improve journey times at the Ebbsfleet junction  Neither Agree nor Disagree 

Improve road safety at the Ebbsfleet junction  Agree 

Minimise impact on the environment at the Ebbsfleet junction  Agree 

Provide value for money Strongly Agree 

7b Please provide details to illustrate your answers 

The Borough Council has identified significant growth in the Borough over the Local Plan 
period and beyond 2026. The A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junction improvements have long been 
identified to meet the needs of this growth and are included with the Strategic Transport 
Programme to provide the strategic road improvements need to support the additional 
development. 

The Council has some concerns that the transport modeling work and full assessment of the 
junction proposals has not been made available as part of the consultation. No details have 
been made available with regard to queue lengths at the proposed junction. The Technical 
Appraisal Report acknowledges that the operation of the Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions are 
affected by the capacity of the A2 mainline but that the study’s remit does not cover this. The 
Council considers that the junction proposals should not be considered separately from the 
A2 mainline capacity but that also the junction proposals should allow for widening of the A2 
in order to provide additional capacity. 

The Council also has concerns that the limited increase in the size of the roundabouts at the 
junction does not allow for additional queuing capacity should this become necessary as 
development comes forward in the area, particularly as the exact nature of development at 
Ebbsfleet is still unknown. 

The Council acknowledges that the option has sought to minimize impacts on the 
environment generally. However there is potential for considerable impact from the junction, 
particularly on archaeology and more assessment and information is needed to understand 
the extent of this impact and agree appropriate mitigation. 

The environmental issues still need to be considered in detail: 

Archaeology: 

Intrusive investigation will be required prior to detailed design at both junctions.  

Ebbsfleet Option 1B has avoided the Scheduled Monuments of ‘Springhead Roman site’ and 
Neolithic sites near the River Ebbsfleet which is to be welcomed, but the EAR has not 
properly assessed the known undesignated heritage assets particularly in the area of 
Springhead, has not considered their significance and has not indicated how significant 
heritage assets such as Roman temple TQ 76 SW 1384 (which was preserved during works 
for HS1) could be preserved as part of the proposed scheme. This is disappointing as this 
matter was specifically raised during the Cultural Heritage workshop. A detailed desk-based 



assessment should be carried out for this area as soon as possible to ensure that 
undesignated assets are considered in detail and the scheme should be designed to allow 
preservation in situ of any significant undesignated archaeological assets, which under the 
NPPF should be treated as if they were designated. In carrying out the detailed desk-based 
assessment further information should be obtained from the Kent Historic Environment 
Record as it has been updated since information was last requested. The EAR has also not 
considered the likelihood of archaeological remains of Lower and Upper Palaeolithic and 
early Mesolithic date being present in the development area. It is suggested that the desk 
based assessment includes a contribution from a Palaeolithic and Quaternary geology 
specialist(s) as significant remains have been found in the areas adjacent to the proposed 
scheme. KCC Heritage can provide further advice regarding what would be expected. The 
further work should also include a more detailed assessment of historic landscape – the 
EAR has not assessed industrial heritage landscapes or the archaeological aspects of time 
depth have not been considered. 

Air quality and noise should consider impacts on the new dwellings identified in the Local 
Plan, most of which have been granted planning permission and are being delivered as part 
of the new Ebbsfleet Garden City. Many of these houses will be occupied by scheme 
completion and so may require mitigation. 

Ecology 

The submitted information provides limited information about the habitats which will be 
impacted by the proposed development. The Council will seek further specific species 
surveys to be carried out and submitted. This should not be limited to dormice or reptiles as 
suggested. An ecological survey should highlight the likelihood of protected /notable species 
being present. 

8a Overall to what extent do you agree with the proposed option for Ebbsfleet 
Junction 

Agree 

8b Please provide details to illustrate your answers 

The Council is keen to urgently bring forward the delivery of improvements at Ebbsfleet 
junction in order to meet the needs of the development coming forward.  However, it 
considers that a more holistic view should be taken of the strategic road network which 
would allow for an optimum option which builds in additional capacity and also allows for 
widening of the A2. 

The westbound on-slip is shown to be widened but it is not clear whether the one-way 
southbound link to Park Corner Road is retained, it appears from the plans to be closed. 
More clarity with regard to this is requested as this is a historic link between Swanscombe 
and Southfleet and links the two communities.  

Archaeology; 

The Council is concerned that little acknowledgement has been made of the heritage assets 
(a Roman villa) under the eastbound on slip at Ebbsfleet and to the north of the A2 which 
were recorded as part of the last improvement works to this junction undertaken in 



connection with CTRL. The Council do not agree that this impact is minor adverse.  The 
Council would suggest that further discussion is undertaken with KCC heritage and Historic 
England. 

9. Are there any local issues that you feel we should be aware of in developing 
our proposals around the Ebbsfleet junction? Please provide details to illustrate your 
answers: 

Construction impact: given the proximity of this trunk road junction to other strategic 
junctions and the level of traffic that uses this junction at present the construction of the 
junction improvements are likely to cause significant impact over a wide area. The 
construction works need to be planned carefully and avoid further congestion by 
coordinating with other proposed road improvements e.g. St Clements Way junction and 
other major developments coming forward. 

Reducing the period of construction, as suggested in the consultation, would be welcomed 
by the Council. 

Non-motorised users: The north south and east-west pedestrian and cycle routes should be 
maintained and enhanced around this junction ensuring the new communities and existing 
communities have ease of access to the countryside to the south and the rural communities 
to the south have access to the new facilities, including schools coming forward in Ebbsfleet. 

Archaeology; 

The Council is concerned that little acknowledgement has been made of the heritage assets 
(a Roman villa) under the eastbound on slip at Ebbsfleet and to the north of the A2 which 
were recorded as part of the last improvement works to this junction undertaken in 
connection with CTRL. The Council do not agree that this impact is minor adverse.  The 
Council would suggest that further discussion is undertaken with KCC heritage and Historic 
England. 

Ecology 

The preferred option has been designed to avoid areas of Ancient Woodland and SSSI and 
the Council support this, however, the preferred option may result in direct loss of Ebbsfleet 
marshes, Northfleet Local Wildlife Site (LWS) habitat and should be avoided where possible 
through detailed design and mitigated against where necessary. 

There are also concerns that the operational and construction phase of the proposed 
development may negatively impact the LWS. We would seek to ensure that detailed design 
demonstrates full assessment of the impacts of the development on the designated sites. 

10. Do you have any further comments about this Bean and Ebbsfleet junction 
improvements scheme? 

The Environmental Assessment Report does not refer in most of the sections to the Borough 
Council’s adopted Core Strategy. Since this was adopted in 2011, is up-to-date, continues to 
be relevant and has been discussed with HE, this is disappointing.  



The Technical Appraisal Report acknowledges that the operation of the Bean and Ebbsfleet 
junctions are affected by the capacity of the A2 mainline but that the study’s remit does not 
cover this. The Council considers that the junction proposals should not be considered 
separately from the A2 mainline capacity but that the junction proposals should allow for 
widening of the A2 in order to provide additional capacity. In addition, the proximity of the 
junctions to junction 2 of the M25 and A2(T) and the inter-relationship of all these junctions 
with junctions 1A and 1B of the M25 results in incidences or capacity issues on one part of 
the road network impacting on the other parts of the strategic network and the local road 
network. Given the complexity of this road network and the interdependancies and its lack of 
resilience to incidences, the improvement works should be considered holistically in order to 
reduce the frequency of incidences causing impact on the local road network both during 
construction but also operational stages of the development. 

The construction works at the Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions are likely to result in more traffic 
using junction 2 to access parts of Dartford Borough off the A2.  The Council requests that 
these impacts are considered in the detailed assessment of the preferred option. 

Ecology: 

The submitted information provides limited information about the habitats which will be 
impacted by the proposed development. The Council requests that further specific species 
surveys are carried out and submitted. This should not be limited to dormice or reptiles as 
suggested. An ecological survey should highlight the likelihood of protected /notable species 
being present. 

The Council would expect the detailed design to demonstrate that the required mitigation 
can be incorporated into the site and where possible any landscaping associated with the 
works or adjacent habitats can be utilized as mitigation areas.  Where possible, mitigation 
should not impact on dormice or reptiles that have already been impacted upon by the 
adjacent developments to Ebbsfleet junction.  

The Council would seek to ensure that any landscaping provided as part of the development 
is designed to enhance the area for species/habitats recorded during the ecological surveys 
beyond that required by the mitigation in order to ensure enhancement of biodiversity.  Such 
landscape areas should also be managed for wildlife, where appropriate, once development 
has been completed and we would seek that a management scheme for landscape and 
biodiversity is required as a part of the DCO. 

Heritage 

Council support the retention of the grade II listed bridge over the A2 in the current Option. 

The following detailed comments provided to the Council by KCC Heritage, as their 
archaeological advisors should be taken into account: 

i) 9.1.3 – the study area is too small – at least 1km would be appropriate for 
wider context. 

ii) 9.2.2 – the Kent HER has been updated and further information should be 
requested. 



iii) 9.3.2 – the study area includes the Ebbsfleet Elephant site which is of 
international significance. The site has been largely excavated but other 
significant remains survive in the area. 

iv) The assessment in 9.3 Baseline conditions is not sufficiently detailed and is 
not based on up to date HER information. 

v) 9.3.5 – ‘findspots’ have not always been completely removed/excavated. 
vi) 9.3.7 – Palaeolithic remains have not been properly assessed in this 

section – a Palaeolithic specialist should be used for any further 
assessment.  

vii) 9.3.8 There is no ‘causeway enclosure’ known in Darenth Wood. The 
record correctly listed in appendix 9.1 relates to a causeway which should 
actually be located on the Thames foreshore. 

viii) 9.3.9 – The undated heritage assets relating to Springhead religious focus 
have not been properly assessed. In particular Roman temple TQ 76 SW 
1384 preserved as part of the HS1 work has not been specifically included 
in the assessment. 

ix) 9.3.13 – post-medieval heritage assets have not been thoroughly assessed 
and some assets have not been included e.g. the clay slurry pumping 
network. 

x) 9.3.15 – Contrary to this paragraph, the historic landscape in this area has 
huge time depth – at least 425,000 years. Historic landscape character 
needs to be assessed in more detail particularly in terms of industrial 
landscapes and the time depth provided by buried archaeological remains.  

xi) 9.6.5 & 9.6.7 – a more detailed desk-based assessment should be carried 
out before the design for either junction is developed further. 

xii) 9.7.1 – Historic England’s views on the impacts on the setting of the 
designated assets should be sought. In terms of Springhead the local 
community’s ambition to make the remains of the designated temples 
accessible in the long term should not be impeded by the proposals. 

xiii) 9.7.15 – 9.7.17 – the impact on the known heritage resource in this area 
has not been properly assessed. In particular the Roman temple which was 
preserved during HS1 works has not been identified and the impact of the 
proposed scheme on it has not been assessed. The scheme should aim to 
preserve in situ this asset which may be of equivalent significance to the 
designated remains. Archaeological remains would also be expected in the 
area of the enlarged eastern roundabout.  

xiv) 9.7.18 – impact on the historic landscape could well be higher than 
negligible when assessed in more detail. 

xv) 9.8 – residual significance of effects will need to be reassessed following 
more detailed desk based assessment. 

xvi) 9.9 – Disagree with the statement in 9.9.1 – archaeological remains are 
known to survive within and adjacent to development in this area – 
particularly the A2 slip roads and Southfleet Road. 

xvii) 9.10 – up to date HER information needs to be obtained and a more 
detailed assessment carried out including a Palaeolithic specialist 









APPENDIX B



APPENDIX B



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

DARTFORD HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION - HOME ENERGY 
AND FUEL POVERTY ACTION PLAN 2015 – 2018 PROGRESS 
REPORT & HOME ENERGY AND FUEL POVERTY ACTION PLAN 
2017 - 2020 

1. Summary

1.1 The Council is required to publish a report at two yearly intervals on progress 
made in implementing measures relating to the Home Energy Conservation Act 
1995.

1.2 The report attached at Appendix A covers the progress made against the actions 
in the 2015 – 2018 Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan.  The report also 
covers a range of areas including an analysis on Dartford’s current position 
regarding energy efficiency and the action to be taken in the period 2017 to 2020.

1.3 The report also includes information about the changes to the Energy Company 
Obligation Government Scheme following wide consultation.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the contents of the 2015 – 2018 Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action 
Plan progress report at Appendix A and the Home Energy and Fuel Poverty 
Action Plan 2017 - 2020 at Appendix B, be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1.Statutory guidance on the Home Energy Conservation Action 1995 was 
revised in 2013 placing a duty on councils to prepare and publish a report on 
energy conservation, particularly in relation to improving the efficiency of 
private rented properties.  This report was presented to Cabinet on 7 March 
2013 where the contents were noted (Minute No 166 refers).  A further report 
on progress was presented to Cabinet on 16 April 2015 where the contents 
were again noted. 

3.2. In January 2017, further guidance was received which outlined additional 
areas to be included in the March 2017 report covering:

 Local energy efficiency ambitions and priorities.
 Fuel poverty.
 Boilers and heat pumps.
 Smart meters.
 Minimum energy efficiency standards in the Private Rented 

sector.

In addition, Government is currently consulting on the changes to energy 
efficiency schemes and flexible eligibility guidance due to come in place from 
1 April 2017.   



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

3.3.Currently, there are a range of strategic documents, guidance and legislation 
covering the reduction of people living in fuel poverty as well as improving the 
quality of both new and existing housing stock and also considering the health 
impacts related to housing.  

These include:
 Energy Act 2011
 Climate Change Act 2008
 The Home Energy Conservation Act (HECA) 1995
 The UK Fuel Poverty Strategy 2015
 The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (Housing Act 2004)
 The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales)  
 Regulations 2015
 Changes to Government’s Energy Company Obligation (ECO) Scheme

Collectively, these have a number of emission targets and reductions  
including: 

 Reducing greenhouse gas carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions by 29%by 
2017  and 35% by 2022

 Insulating all cavities and lofts where practical by 2020
 By 2030, 1.6 – 8.6 million low level carbon heat installations ie heat 

pumps 

3.4. In the last two years, a number of initiatives have been developed  taking on 
board these legislative changes:

 Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership
 Kent Warm Homes Scheme (including Home Heating Cost Reduction 

Obligation (HHCRO/ECO Affordable Warmth Offer)
 Winter Warmth Programme 2014 – 2017
 Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) Green Deal 

Communities Funding – used for Warmer Streets locally 
 Kent Fuel Poverty Strategy and Action Plan 
 Kent Environment Strategy

The Home Energy Conservation Report provides further details on these 
initiatives; how they have been implemented in Dartford and progress made.

3.5. Dartford Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2015 – 2018 

The plan summarises the national and legislative context of the borough’s 
energy efficiency work.  It examines the current situation and the Council’s 
strategic commitment.  The plan includes some actions that link in to the Kent 
Environment Strategy (see Cabinet Report 3rd March 2016 Minute 106)

A progress report on the Dartford Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 
2015 – 2018 is attached as Appendix A.



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

3.6 Dartford Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2017 to 2020

The plan includes details regarding changes in energy efficiency/fuel poverty 
legislation which will have regard to the new ECO Help to Heat Scheme from 
April 2017 to September 2018 

An Executive Summary of the revised Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action 
Plan 2017 to 2020 is attached at Appendix B.  A full version of the Action Plan 
will be available in the Members Room before and after the meeting and the 
officer can be contacted for further information

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

This links with the following targets in the Corporate Plan:
ET1 to reduce carbon emissions
ET2 to ensure that development in Dartford is sustainable with high 

standards of design, layout and energy efficiency
HS3 to increase the percentage of both the private rented and public 

housing stock reaching the Decent Homes Standard.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications Reduced emissions and water usage from the 
Council’s own estate may assist in offsetting the 
rising cost of utilities provision

Legal Implications The Council has a duty to produce a Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions report and a Home Energy 
Conservation Act Report 

Staffing Implications To be met within existing resources

Admin Implications To be met within existing resources

Risk Assessment Not adapting to climate change may have health 
and safety implications for the Council and the 
public – flooding, heat waves, drought etc., and the 
Council’s ability to deliver services

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Progress Report Dartford Home Energy and Fuel Poverty 
Action Plan 2015 to 2018
Appendix B – Dartford Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2017 to 
2020



CABINET
13 APRIL 2017

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Dartford Home Energy 
Conservation Act (1995) 
March 2015 Report

Dartford Home Energy 
Conservation Act (1995) 
March 2013 Report

N/A

Cabinet 
April 
2015

Cabinet 
March 
2013

Peter Dosad 
01322 343327

Peter Dosad
01322 343327

External 
Services

External 
Services

N/A

N/A



APPENDIX A

DARTFORD HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION ACT (HECA) 1995
MARCH 2017 REPORT

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report demonstrates Dartford Borough Council’s progress on the targets set out
in the Dartford Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2015 - 2018.

1 Where we wanted to be by 2018

In our previous Action Plan we set out our ambitions for where we wanted to be in 
relation to energy efficiency by 2018.  On 3 March 2016 Cabinet agreed that we  
work towards the targets in the revisited Kent Environment Strategy (KES)  (minute 
106).

The revisited Kent Environment Strategy includes the following three themes: 
1. Building the foundations for Delivery
2.  Making best use of existing resources, avoiding or minimising negative 

impacts
3. Towards a sustainable future

The second theme includes 
Priority 6:  Improve our resource efficiency such as energy, water and land and 
includes a sub priority:

Improving the resource efficiency of our homes, reducing costs, tackling fuel poverty 
and improving health outcomes . 

Our aims for the reporting period were to: 

 Increase the amount of energy generated in the District from renewable 
sources

 Reduce the number of households in fuel poverty
 Monitor and report on the measures installed and carbon saving enabled 

through Green Deal and the Energy Company Obligations and other projects 

We chose actions in our plan that were in our sphere of control or influence and the 
actions were grouped under the same headings used previously in the Dartford 
Sustainable Home Energy Strategy and Action Plan.  

We have used the following markers to assess progress towards our aims and the 
actions set out in the Action Plan 2015 – 2018



2.  Progress Report March 2017

TARGET NUMBER 2015-18 TARGET PROGRESS
A.  RAISING 
AWARENESS
A1 Provide information and 

presentations to Landlords 
including Landlord Forum 
and Landlord events

The last Landlord Forum 
was 8 December 2015 
where energy efficiency 
was discussed.  

A2 Promote government and 
other grants and discounts 
for the installation of 
renewable energy systems

We promote renewable 
energy on the Councils 
website.  Details of 
progress made are 
included in the 2015 -2018 
Action Plan full report. 

A3 Encourage Dartford 
borough council (DBC) 
officers when visiting 
homes to provide 
information on energy 
efficiency and grants if 
appropriate

The Private Sector 
Housing Team consider 
energy efficiency during 
the course of their duties 
including visiting clients for 
disabled adaptations, 
inspecting for dis-repair 
etc

A4 Provide information to 
members to keep them 
informed around energy 
efficiency projects

Collective Switching 
Cabinet 8 December 2016 
(minute 85); Kent 
Environment Strategy 
Cabinet 3 March 2016 
(minute 106); Kent Fuel 
Poverty Strategy Cabinet 
8 September 2016 (minute 
47)

A5 Complete presentations 
with external groups on 
request

Provided when requested.  
8 presentations made 
during the reporting period 

A6 Promote smart metering in 
the borough

We have liaised with Utility 
Companies.  Via the 
Collective Switching 
Scheme smart meters 
have been offered to 
switchers on several of the 
campaigns.  

B.  SCHOOLS AND 
EDUCATION
B1 Identify groups to liaise 

with to promote the 
importance of energy 
efficiency

Provided when requested. 
Presentations to Elders 
Forums, Milan Day 
Centre, Older Peoples 
Day, The Meeting Place 
Orchard Shopping Centre. 



Presenting to Health 
Inequalities Group in May 
2017

C. GATHERING 
INFORMATION
C1 Continue to collect and 

analyse information from 
Energy Performance 
Certificates (EPC) to 
provide a focus for 
additional energy 
efficiency works and map 
potential areas for energy 
efficiency measures

All EPC Data has been 
purchased,  compiled and 
analysed for the period up 
to April 2016.  The 
provision of data using the 
bulk data service came to 
an end of 1 October 2016.  
Data will be delivered via a 
website that is managed 
by DCLG.  The Council 
will be contacted when 
access to the data is 
available  We have used 
EPC data for targeting 
specific energy efficiency 
initiatives over the 2 year 
period including loft 
insulation and room in roof 
insulation and the Warmer 
Streets project.  

C2 Develop and use systems 
that enable the targeting of 
measures for vulnerable 
residents

We have used EPC and 
government data including  
Lower Super Output Areas 
(LSOA) to look at targeting 
vulnerable residents.  We 
have also liaised with the 
Healthy Lifestyle Co-
ordinator to target eligible 
residents for specific 
energy efficiency schemes 
(such as boiler 
replacements) that are 
linked with long term 
health conditions. 

C3 Investigate the energy 
ratings of all dwellings in 
the council stock and 
develop systems for 
keeping this data up to 
date following 
improvements

EPCs are carried out by 
Dartford Borough Council 
staff on council housing 
voids and right to Buy 
properties.  Once the 
EPCs are done they’re  
entered on to the 
Academy software system 
used for targeting work at 
a later data.  The EPC 
data and install data from 
the Warmer Streets 



Project and Warm Homes 
has been collated too.

C4 Carry out a stock condition 
survey for private sector to 
identify areas where 
energy efficiency activity is 
required. 

The Stock condition 
survey for private sector 
was completed in October 
2015 and the information 
was used to assist with the 
preparation of the Kent 
Fuel Poverty Strategy and 
the HECA progress report 
and Action Plan 2017 - 
2020

D. PROVIDING 
INFORMATION
D1 Devise plan to enable 

measures to be developed 
and introduced 

Ongoing  and hope to 
include a data sharing 
protocol and compiling a 
directory of services 
available to support 
residents around energy 
efficiency issues 

D2 Provide residents with 
information about energy 
efficiency measures and 
grants using media 
opportunities

We have issued press 
releases and updated the 
Council website around 
the different schemes 
available.  We have also 
used social media to 
promote the collective 
switching scheme which 
included funding from I-
Choosr our collective 
switching partners to do 
targeted facebook 
advertising.  We also 
produced a short 
explanatory  video about 
collective switching which 
was used on Facebook, 
Twitter and placed on our 
council website too.  
Dartford promotes energy 
efficiency in Kent via the 
@kentenergydeal twitter 
handle.  We also produce 
written materials including 
flyers, posters and letters 
about schemes 

D3 Raise awareness to 
changes in EPC criteria to 
landlords

Next Landlord Forum to be 
in September 2017 and 
EPC criteria to be added 
as an agenda item 



D4 Run a series of features 
on our website to raise the 
profile and increase 
understanding of energy 
efficiency and renewable 
technologies and put 
processes in place to 
ensure information is kept 
up to date

Website regularly updated 
to take on board changing
government grants and
schemes

E. IMPROVING THE 
HOUSING STOCK
E1 Encourage landlords to 

participate in the private 
sector landlords leasing 
scheme

As a Department the 
Accommodation Team are 
procuring properties on a 
daily basis.  At present 
there are 96 properties 
across the Borough and 
an additional 13 properties 
in Copperfields giving a 
total of 109 properties on a 
lease agreement 

E2 Continue to look at the 
feasibility of energy 
efficiency measures in 
sheltered housing 
accommodation

A number of additional 
council housing properties 
have had solar PV 
installed in the last 2 
years.  
LED sensors have been 
placed on a number of 
sheltered housing units 

E3 Continue the programme 
of planned works in the 
Council’s housing stock 
linking with funds available

An ongoing programme of 
planned works on the 
council housing stock has 
taken place on housing 
stock  roofs, boilers, 
rewires, kitchens, 
bathrooms and communal 
roofs.  Details in specific 
section in this report 

E4 Continue to investigate 
new energy efficiency 
products being introduced 
and undertake trials where 
appropriate

Some funding was 
received via the NEA 
Innovation Funding and 
some of the Council’s 
tenants took part in a trial 
of Heating control devises 
(Co Control) and Radiator 
Fans (RadFan).  The 
Council is currently 
considering a 
battery/energy storage 
project. 



E5 Work in partnership with 
Kent and Medway 
sustainable energy 
partnership to deliver 
energy efficiency 
measures and reduce their 
energy consumption within 
Kent including Energy 
Company Obligations 
(ECO) 2, Home Heating 
Cost Reduction 
Obligations (HHCRO) and 
Winter Warmth.  Continue 
to work in partnership with 
framework providers 
involved in the Kent and 
Medway Sustainable 
Energy Partnership

Dartford Council is an 
active
project board member of 
Kent and Medway 
sustainable energy 
partnership

E6 Analyse the outcomes of 
the Warmer Streets, 
Winter Warmth and Warm 
Homes Projects

The data showing energy 
efficiency measures 
installed are reported to 
management team on a 
quarterly basis.  Data from 
the Warmer Streets 
project was supplied to the 
funding bodies and used 
in the compilation of this 
report.  We also obtain 
data on installs of 
measures through the 
Kent Warm Homes 
scheme, in addition to 
direct mailshots 
undertaken by an 
approved insulation 
provider.  The Council will 
also be including 
insulation measures in the 
Dartford  Health 
Inequalities Action Plan 
Monitoring Report  from 
April 2017.  The data from 
the different schemes is 
shown in detail later in this 
report 

E7 Ensure that various 
funding assistance is 
available to increase 
energy efficiency 
measures in the home

The Council uses the Kent 
Warm Homes Framework 
to deliver schemes for its 
residents around boilers 
and insulation measures .  
In addition during  this 



particular reporting period, 
the Green Deal 
Communities Project 
Warmer Streets has also 
operated which bought in 
additional funding to  
Dartford and subsequently 
other Local Authorities in 
Kent to enable energy 
efficiency measures to be 
installed including external 
wall insulation.  We also 
receive a small amount of 
funding from Public Health 
to offer Winter Warmth 
Repayable Assistance for 
boilers for those with long 
term health conditions.  
We have successfully 
applied for funding from 
National Energy Action 
(NEA) twice which funded 
the consultation on the 
Kent Fuel Poverty 
Strategy and an Action 
Plan workshop too.  We 
also receive a small 
amount of referral funds 
from the collective 
switching schemes we 
operate.  This money is 
allocated for use in future 
energy efficiency 
initiatives.

F. ENGAGING WITH 
PARTNERS
F1 Investigate input from 

external agencies from 
health and care 
organisations in the 
different activities being 
planned

Agency Awareness 
Training-
3 sessions were given  by 
the Housing Options & 
Private Sector Housing 
Team  in May and 
September 2016 where 
external agencies were 
informed of the activities of 
this Team including 
energy efficiency etc., 
activities . We have  
started meeting with 
different health 
agencies/providers.  



Family Mosaic also 
promote schemes.

F2 Be members of Kent wide 
partnerships for energy 
efficiency, affordable 
warmth and climate 
change

The Council has been 
actively involved in the 
Kent Energy Efficiency 
Partnership especially in 
the development of the 
Kent Fuel Poverty 
Strategy.  We are also 
members of Kent and 
Medway Sustainable 
Energy Partnership and 
members of the Climate 
Change Network.  We are 
also members of the Kent 
Private Sector Housing 
Group. 

F3 Work alongside other 
agencies to develop new 
projects for example 
through the public health 
framework and clinical 
commissioning groups 
(CCGs)

The extended 
handyperson scheme for 
hospital discharge is 
already happening.  Some 
of the money from the 
Better Care Fund has 
enabled this to happen.  

F4 Work with Kent County 
Council (along with other 
local authorities and 
agencies) to deliver Green 
deal/Eco activities 

We are an active member 
of the Kent and Medway 
Sustainable Business 
Partnership

G. RENEWABLE 
ENERGY
G1 Promote renewable 

energy, feed in tariff and 
other renewable heating 
incentives

Information is available on 
the Council’s website

G2 Support the installation of 
renewable energy in 
council buildings and 
monitor installations

A number of solar PV 
systems have been 
installed at sheltered 
housing units and some of 
the council housing stock.  
A company monitors the 
solar PV system to ensure 
they are working 
effectively and this is 
reported in our 
Greenhouse Gas 
Emission Report and also 
later in this report 



H. FUEL POVERTY
H1 Improve energy efficiency 

standards in fuel poor 
homes for example those 
who have health 
conditions linked to living 
in a cold home

To date our main focus 
has been through the 
public health winter 
warmth monies. Following 
discussions with the 
healthy lifestyle co-
ordinator the energy 
efficiency schemes were 
promoted to some of the 
residents attending her 
healthy weight schemes.  
This resulted in energy 
efficiency measures being 
installed.  

H2 Promote collective 
switching 
campaigns/energy deal to 
residents in the borough

The collective switching 
scheme has been 
promoted via council 
housing magazines, 
mailshots to target areas 
in the borough. We offer 
drop in sessions to 
register people without 
access to the internet.  
Details of these can be 
found in the ‘our 
examples’ section of this 
report

H3 Work in partnership to 
identify as many fuel poor 
homes as is reasonably 
practicable by targeting F 
and G energy rated homes

We have analysed the 
EPC data that we currently 
have and used it to target 
specific properties to 
encourage installs. 

H4 Work in partnership to 
reach and support certain 
high cost homes such as 
non gas or park homes eg 
through the Help to Heat 
scheme

We have undertaken a 
couple of boiler installs in 
park homes and gathered 
non gas data.  We have 
also targeted council 
housing properties who 
are non gas.  We have 
also offered advice to 
residents who enquire if 
they are off gas properties 
and refer to our partners 
too

H5 Reduce fuel poverty in the 
borough through raising 
awareness and ensuring 
take up measures under 
the ECO scheme

The Council has been 
actively involved in the 
development of the Kent 
Fuel Poverty Strategy and 
the preparation of an 
action plan to work in 



partnership with a range of 
agencies including health 
and housing associations 

I. IDENTIFY NEW 
RESOUCES
I 1 Identify existing funding 

available for energy 
efficiency work and where 
appropriate take action

The Council actively bids 
for external funding to 
enable energy efficiency 
work to take place in the 
borough – this resulted in 
the Green Deal 
Communities Funding, 
NEA Innovation Technical 
Funding, IChoosr funding 
and NEA funding too.  
Other applications have 
been made, but were 
unsuccessful

J PLAN  AND MONITOR 
ACTIVITIES
J1 Report on and revise the 

action plan every two 
years

Completed 

J2 Review activities 
undertaken on behalf of 
Dartford Borough Council 

We review activities on a 
regular basis and are 
trying to ensure that our 
residents are offered 
schemes to suit their 
requirements.  We also 
monitor issues raised by 
our residents which often 
highlight key issues such 
as cavity wall insulation 
which requires being re-
blown. 

4. Dartford Home Energy Conservation Act (1995)

March 2017 Progress Report – Examples Of Our Successes 

(i) WARMER STREETS – GREEN DEAL COMMUNITIES FUNDING 

Warmer Streets was a £4m energy efficiency improvement programme using Green 
Deal Communities Funding.  The programme was led by Dartford Borough Council 
in partnership with Sevenoaks District Council and Kent County Council.  It was 
initially due to run over a 12 month period but was extended for a further period and . 
the project officially closed in September 2016  

 The Warmer Streets Scheme, offered residents funding towards different energy 
efficiency measures including loft insulation with a focus on External Wall Insulation 
for hard to treat properties – solid wall properties fall in to this category.  External 
Wall Insulation can be expensive to install, however the impacts it can have is 



making the home warmer and healthier to live in.  In addition fuel bills are reduced.  
Kent has a high proportion of solid wall properties   

Measurement, Monitoring and Evaluation:

In an attempt to quantify the impacts of External Wall Insulation on household energy 
consumption and the impacts these improvement have had on an individual’s living 
conditions and health,  the Measurement, Monitoring and Evaluation project (MME) 
was established.  

The MME project has targeted Warmers Streets participants and a number of 
properties now have monitoring equipment installed.  These people also complete a 
questionnaire on a regular basis.  Surveys to collect data took place in 
Spring/Summer time 2016 and the second round of surveys are taking place in 
Winter 2016/17.  Participants in the scheme include properties with external wall 
insulation installed and a ‘control group’ of those who didn’t have energy efficiency 
measures installed through the programme.  It is envisaged that differences between 
treated and untreated homes can be assessed.  

It was initially proposed that health professionals be asked to help to monitor 
changes in people’s health and lifestyles due to energy efficiency measures being 
installed. However, it was not possible to obtain the necessary level of commitment 
for this to happen.  Therefore the questionnaires/survey asks a few questions that 
are about fuel cost,  if damp, mould, draughts and respiratory problems have 
changed as a result of the insulation work etc.,  

 The data will be analysed after the winter period questionnaires are returned.   It is 
important to recognise that making a home warmer and hopefully cheaper to heat 
should result improved overall health and comfort. The ability to return patients home 
following stays in hospital is critical, and work that enables homes to be 'fit for 
purpose' plays an important role in achieving this. 

The figures on the installs of measures in Dartford via the Warmer Streets project 
are shown below:

Council Housing Stock Main measure Further measures installed

External wall insulation 88 0

Loft or rafter insulation 
(including loft hatch)

34 7

Cavity wall 1

Owner occupied 
properties

Main measure Further measures installed

Heating controls 0 9

External wall insulation 263 0



Cavity wall insulation 12 6

Gas fired condensing 
boiler

18 57

Hot water cylinder 
insulation

1 6

Loft or rafter insulation 
(including loft hatch)

67 76

Windows and doors 1 0

Cylinder thermostat 0 1

Privately rented stock Main measure Further measures installed

Heating controls

External wall insulation 8

Cavity wall insulation 0

Gas fired condensing 
boiler

0 3

Hot water cylinder 
insulation

0 1

Loft or rafter insulation 
(including loft hatch)

7 1

(ii).  KENT WARM HOMES SCHEME

The Warm Homes scheme is a partnership project between Kent County Council 
and district councils to support residents in Kent and Medway to save energy in their 
home and to drive housing retrofit by taking advantage of retrofit funding and finance 
options including Energy Company Obligation.  KCC on behalf of the Kent and 
Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership has appointed a number of Green 
Deal/Eco Providers to deliver retrofit to the domestic section across the County.  This 
contract takes the form of a multiple provider framework agreement with different 
‘lots’ covering delivery of works and activities such as: 

 HHCRO/Affordable Warmth
 Delivery of Energy Efficiency Measures
 Engagement and project development support
 Park homes
 Renewable energy



The framework is available for use by all local authorities in Kent and Medway.  

Since the last HECA report there have been a number of changes to the ECO 
schemes and funding available which has impacted on the number of installs taking 
place and changes in providers of the different insulation and boiler schemes.  

ARAN 
SERVICES

TENURE NUMBER OF 
INSTALLS

ECO FUNDING LIFETIME 
SAVINGS £

LIFETIME CO2 
(KG)

Loft 
Insulation

Private 
rented

1 386.47 5670.00 23520

Loft 
Insulation

Owner 
occupied

4 1781.28 47124.00 185690

Cavity wall Owner 
occupied

13 7816.03 102900.00 435960

Loft 
insulation 
top ups

Private 
rented

1 697.70 630.00 2310

Loft 
insulation 
top ups

Owner 
occupied

11 2874.22 9240.00 34860

POLYRAMEK TENURE NUMBER 
OF 
INSTALLS

ECO 
FUNDING

LIFETIME 
SAVINGS 
£

LIFETIME 
CO2 (KG)

WARMER 
STREETS

WINTER 
WARMTH

Private 
rented

1 1346.00 1380.00 713.16 1017.00BOILER 
INSTALLS

Owner 
occupied

5 1508.76 6420.00 33176.4
0

801.60

ARAN TENURE NUMBER 
OF 
INSTALLS

ECO 
FUNDING

LIFETIME 
SAVINGS 
£

LIFETIME 
CO2 (KG)

WARMER 
STREETS

WINTER 
WARMTH

Private 
rented

BOILER 
INSTALLS

Owner 
occupied

5 1218.24 4500.00 23254.80 9526.05



Through the Winter Warmth process we have installed 9 boiler replacement systems 
in the last 2 years. 

(iii)  National Energy Action (NEA) Technological Innovation Fund

The purpose of this short project was for National Energy Action (NEA) to test a 
variety of energy efficiency technologies in the home to show how they might help 
make homes warmer and more affordable to heat.  For Kent residents (some of 
whom were Dartford residents) the technologies included a heating control device 
(Co Control) and a radiator fan (Radfan).  Although there were 16 Kent residents 
who participated in these trials (4 from Dartford) some participants did drop out 
during the trial (2 from Dartford) but there were a variety of reasons these people 
could not continue with the project.  The trial ends in April 2017 and a greater 
understanding of who can benefit the most from the devices has been learnt; 
including how the device has been used and what improvements could be made to 
the devices.   The Dartford residents who took part in the trial lived in Council 
housing stock, were identified as vulnerable residents and also had to have WiFi 
access for the monitoring of the devices. 

(iv). Collective Switching – Kent Energy Deal 

A successful bid to the Department of Energy and Climate Change ‘Cheaper energy 
Together’ fund provided support to develop the scheme which now operates across 
five local authority areas in Kent including Dartford.  

Dartford has actively promoted Kent Energy Deal since April 2013 and takes part in 
3 campaigns and auctions each year.  Kent Energy Deal works in partnership with    
iChoosr who was successful in the tendering process - their contract manages the 
scheme on Kent Energy Deal’s behalf and has been extended a number of times.  
We promote the campaigns through our website, leaflet drops, drop in sessions, 
targeted mail drops, social media and attending different meetings and activities.  
We offer an on line facility for people to register themselves and also a registration 
service for those residents without internet access who are often the most vulnerable 
residents.  

The tables below show the number of registrants each auction, the number of 
switchers and the sum of saving per auction.  There is an additional table headed 
‘others’ – these are people who registered and switched through the Kent Energy 
Deal but their addresses are not located in the 5 Local Authority participating 
boroughs.  

 

 
Dartford

 Av saving Sum of Saving
No. of 
Switchers Registrants

Switching % 
rate

Jun-13  £   83.90  £    4,614.35 55 686 8%
Nov-13  £ 105.96  £       211.92 2 122 2%
Feb-14  £ 209.38  £  17,588.09 84 299 28%
Jun-14  £ 189.70  £       189.70 1 50 2%
Oct-14  £ 221.72  £  10,642.46 48 144 33%



Feb-15  £ 280.97  £  21,354.02 76 282 27%
May-15  £ 263.44  £    6,322.57 24 159 15%
Oct-15  £ 246.20  £  16,741.59 68 229 30%
Feb-16  £ 279.95  £  18,476.38 65 202 32%
May-16  £ 320.87  £  24,706.71 77 250 31%
Oct-16  £ 152.47  £    6,556.39 43 191 23%

   £    127,404.18 

Other
Av 
saving

Sum of 
Saving

No. of 
Switchers Registrants

Switching % 
rate

Jun-13   £    2,836.39 32 526 6%
Nov-13  £   75.77  £       703.27 7 64 10%
Feb-14  £ 103.32  £    5,025.79 18 210 8%
Jun-14   £       280.12 1 23 4%
Oct-14   £       719.73 4 41 10%
Feb-15   £    7,272.09 31 227 14%
May-15   £    2,685.22 7 99 7%
Oct-15   £    2,468.76 11 107 10%
Feb-16   £    1,886.12 12 103 12%
May-16 £ 224.43  £    2,468.77 11 79 14%
Oct-16 £ 93.78  £       844.03 9 74 12%

  £      27,190.29 

Big Energy Saving Network

Funding has been obtained by a Kent based organisation to provide sessions and 
input around energy efficiency related issues as part of the Big Energy Saving 
Network (BESN).  The activities and sessions take place in isolation of the work and 
activities of the Local Authorities.  As far as we are aware the BESN are not actively 
operating in the Dartford area. 

(v). Other Issues To Be Reported on Through the recent Guidance received:

A. Fuel Poverty and Vulnerable People Living in Cold Conditions

Dartford Borough Council has a part time (22 hours)  Environmental Promotions 
Officer, part of whose duties is to reduce fuel poverty.  The Officer is based within 
the Private Sector Housing Team and links with that team regarding improving 
energy efficiency for private households across the district.  Dartford Council has it’s 
own Council housing stock and links are made to improve the thermal standards of 
the Council’s domestic properties. 



The county wide Kent Health and Affordable Warmth Strategy was outdated and had 
lapsed. Over the past 18 months Local Authority Officers across Kent have drafted, 
consulted on and published Developing Affordable Warmth a Fuel Poverty Strategy 
for Kent (Gravesham BC acted as lead authority as Chair of the Kent Energy 
Efficiency Partnership Group).  A workshop with partners including local authority, 
health, housing,  voluntary and community groups was held in November 2016 to 
develop the action plan to move the strategy forward.  A report of the workshop is 
now available and has been circulated. .  

Examples of current partnership work to reduce fuel poverty and the health issues 
caused by living in a cold home include:

Winter Warmth funding from Public Health Kent – additional funding granted to 
Dartford to help residents with existing health conditions.  A repayable assistance 
scheme is offered to people requiring replacement boilers. 

Collective Energy Switching – an energy partnership of 5 Kent Authorities (Dartford, 
Gravesham, Tonbridge and Malling, Dover and Tunbridge Wells). Auction rounds are 
held 3 times a year. 

Dartford officers are currently meeting with a range of health related agencies to 
develop links to promote support and advice available from the private sector 
housing team.  Through use of the Better Care Fund (BCF), assisting people to 
remain in their own warm homes is currently an area where innovative projects are 
being considered. 

With the changing focus on the next round of the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) 
starting in April 2017 on identifying and reaching fuel poor and vulnerable people 
living in a cold home the Council will be working to develop a Statement of Intent 
around the new Flexible Eligibility section of ECO.  It is hoped to use our Energy 
Performance Certificate (EPC) data, health links and targeting lower super output 
areas (LSOA) to improve the energy efficiency of properties of our more vulnerable 
people. 

We have started to log the enquiries that we receive around energy efficiency 
measures, boiler and general advice as Service Requests.  The figures show 25 
people registered on collective switching and 54 calls received around 
insulation/boiler advice.  The figures for energy advice are much higher than this and 
have not all been recorded.  The Warm Homes Scheme provides a call centre and 
the enquiries for the Warmer Streets scheme were made directly to the Warmer 
Streets project.

B. Smart Meters 

Smart Energy GB has been contacted by the Chair of the Kent Energy Efficiency 
Partnership (KEEP) with a request to meet and explore ways in which Kent Councils 
can promote/support the roll out of Smart meter across the county and integrate with 
current schemes/projects.  We anticipate being contacted once the programme for 
2017 has re-launched.   It is hoped that we can base future engagement with Smart 
Meter roll out from the best practice and advice from Wealden District Council’s 
Smart Energy Parishes Project. 

Smart Meters have been offered as part of the Collective Switching scheme and a 
number of residents who switched to SSE have had smart meters installed.  The 



most recent auction (February 2017) won by First Utility offers a Universal Smart 
Meter facility. 

C. Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards in the Private Rented Sector:

From 1st April 2016 private sector tenants are able to request consent from their 
landlords to carry out energy efficiency improvements to privately rented properties.  
The landlord will not be able to unreasonably refuse consent.  

There are separate regulations requiring properties to be brought up to an E rating 
on an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) which are effective from the 1st April 
2018. 

It is anticipated that at the September 2017 landlord forum the changes in the 
requirements around the Energy efficiency standards will be raised.

D. Boilers and Heat Pumps and other Innovations

Boiler Installations:

Dartford Borough Council, like many other authorities in Kent offer the Winter 
Warmth facility to residents with long term health conditions.  This is a relatively 
small pot of money which is provided by public health.  We follow an application 
process which includes gas safety certificates being required for all works.  The 
funding now available via Government schemes has reduced and we have used 
different referral routes for any boiler requests received, in some instances referring 
residents to Charis Grant for support.  

Dartford Borough Council like many other local authorities has adopted the Building 
Control National Performance Standards, which among other things define service 
levels that constitute a ‘fit for purpose’ service. 

The implementation of Building Regulations with regard to the installation of boilers 
has however, to a very large degree, been taken out of the hands of Building Control 
Bodies, either private or public sector.  Central Government over the last 15 years or 
so has introduced, encouraged and subsequently strengthened the role of self 
certification in relation to all heat producing appliances. 

The bodies that run the ‘competent persons schemes’ are required to monitor the 
work of the scheme members – this is done on a sample basis.  Dartford is able to 
produce a report on the different measures in the borough via the competent 
persons schemes 

Heat Pumps and other Renewables

In relation to heat pumps and new technologies again self certification is becoming 
more prevalent.  It is possible for us to identify properties with new technology 
system via the EPC data. 



Battery/Energy Storage

The Council is currently considering a battery/energy storage project for some of the 
sheltered housing and council housing properties 

E. Local Energy Efficiency Ambitions and Priorities

The priorities for the Borough will cover the following with targets around these 
priority areas.  The details of our priorities for 2017 – 2020 are placed in Appendix 2: 

Raising Awareness

Schools and Education

Gathering Information

Providing Information

Improving the Housing Stock

Engaging with Partners

Renewable Energy

Fuel Poverty

Identifying New Resources

Plan and Monitor Activities 



APPENDIX B (amended)

DARTFORD HOME ENERGY CONSERVATION ACT (1995) MARCH 2017 PROGRESS 
REPORT AND HOME ENERGY AND FUEL POVERTY ACTION PLAN 2017 – 2020 

Dartford Home Energy Conservation Act (1995) march 2017 Report

Executive Summary

Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2017 - 2020

Where we want to be by 2020

In our previous Action Plan we set out our ambitions for where we wanted to be in 
relation to energy efficiency by 2020.  We have committed to working towards the 
targets in the revisited Kent Environment Strategy (KES) (Cabinet 3 March 2016 
[minute 106])

The revisited Kent Environment Strategy includes the following three themes: 
1 Building the foundations for Delivery
2 Making best use of exisiting resources, avoiding or minimising negative impacts
3 Towards a sustainable future

The second theme includes 
Priority 6:  Improve our resource efficiency such as energy, water and land 
and includes a sub priority:

Improving the resource efficiency of our homes,  reducing costs, 
tackling fuel poverty and improving health outcomes . 

Our aims are to: 

 Increase the amount of energy generated in the District from renewable 
sources

 Reduce the number of households in fuel poverty
 Monitor and report on the measures installed and carbon saving enabled 

through Green Deal and the Energy Company Obligations and other projects 

2.  How we will get there 
This part of the plan contains a series of actions for delivery between 2017 and 
2020.  We have chosen actions that are in our sphere of control or influence and 
grouped them under the same heading used previously in the Dartford Sustainable 
Home Energy Strategy and Action Plan 2005 – 2008 and also the Dartford Home 
Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan for 2012 – 2015 and 2015 – 2018

Local Energy Efficiency Ambitions and Priorities

We have committed to working towards the targets in the revisited Kent Environment 
Strategy (KES) (Cabinet 3 March 2016 [minute 106])

The revisited Kent Environment Strategy includes the following three themes: 
1 Building the foundations for Delivery
2 Making best use of exisiting resources, avoiding or minimising negative impacts
3 Towards a sustainable future



APPENDIX B (amended)

The second theme includes 
Priority 6:  Improve our resource efficiency such as energy, water and land and 
includes a sub priority:

Improving the resource efficiency of our homes,  reducing costs, tackling fuel poverty 
and improving health outcomes . 

The Kent Fuel Poverty Strategy and Action Plan was reported to Cabinet 8 
September 2016 [minute 47] and progress noted.

In addition the Council prepares an annual Greenhouse Gas Emissions report which 
is reported to Cabinet and can be downloaded from the Council website. 

Our priorities for the coming period include: 
 Increase the amount of energy generated in the District from renewable 

sources
 Reduce the number of households in fuel poverty
 Monitor and report on the measures installed and carbon saving enabled 

through Green Deal and the Energy Company Obligations and other projects 

With the changes in the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) from April 2017 this 
offers an opportunity to work in partnership with other agencies to target vulnerable 
residents living in cold homes. 

Actions To Improve Energy Efficiency in Residential Properties in the Borough 
2017 – 2020

Raising Awareness
 Provide information and presentations to Landlords including Landlord Forum 

and Landlord events
 Promote government and other grants and discounts for the installation of 

energy efficiency measures and renewable energy/alternative technology 
systems

 Encourage Dartford Borough Council (DBC) officers when visiting homes to 
share information if energy efficiency measures are required

 Provide information to Members to keep them informed around energy 
efficiency projects

 Complete presentations with external groups on request
 Promote Smart Metering in the borough
 Promote the Priority Services Register to DBC officers and residents

School and Education
 Identify groups to liaise with to promote the importance of energy efficiency

Gathering Information 
 Develop and use systems that enable the targeting of measures for 

vulnerable residents living in cold homes



APPENDIX B (amended)

 Use the information available Energy Performance Certificates (EPC) to 
provide a focus for additional energy efficiency works and map potential areas 
for energy efficiency measures

 Continue to identify existing council housing stock that require energy 
efficiency measures and keep data up to date following improvements

 Investigate data sharing processes and use of Kent Integrated Data set 
 Use the data from the Private Sector Stock Condition Survey to develop 

schemes and projects 

Providing Information 
 Provide residents with information about energy efficiency measures and 

grants using media opportunities
 Use the website and social media to raise the profile and increase 

understanding of energy efficiency and renewable technologies and ensure 
information is kept up to date

Improving the Housing Stock
 Develop activities to improve energy efficiency in private rented sector 
 Continue to look at the feasibility of energy efficiency measures in Sheltered 

Housing Accommodation
 Continue the programme of planned works in the Council’s housing stock 

linking with funds available
 Continue to investigate new energy efficiency products being introduced and 

undertake trials where appropriate
 Work in partnership with Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership to 

deliver energy efficiency measures.  Continue to work in partnership with 
Framework providers 

 Ensure that various funding assistance is available to increase energy 
efficiency measures in the home

Engaging with Partners
 Investigate input from external agencies from health and care organisations
 Be members of Kent wide partnerships for energy efficiency, affordable 

warmth and climate change
 Work alongside other agencies to develop new projects for example through 

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG),  Distribution Networks, Public Health 

Renewable energy 
 Promote renewable energy and innovative/alternative technologies 
 Support the installation of renewable techonology in Council buildings 

(including housing stock) and monitor progress. 

Fuel Poverty
 Improve energy efficiency standards in properties where people on low 

incomes or are vulnerable to the cold live
 Promote collective switching campaigns/energy deal to residents in the 

borough



APPENDIX B (amended)

 Work in partnership with other agencies including health to identify as many 
fuel poor homes as is reasonably practicable by targeting F and G energy 
rated homes including private rented sector

 Work in partnership to reach and support certain high energy cost homes 
such as non gas properties or park homes

 Develop a referral process for low income or vulnerable people living in cold 
homes

 Develop appropriate activities from the Kent Fuel Poverty Strategy and Action 
Plan 

Identify new resources
 Identify existing funding available for energy efficiency work and where 

appropriate take action 

Plan and Monitor Activities
 Report on and revise the Council’s action plan every two years 
 Review activities undertaken on behalf of Dartford Borough Council

3.  HOW WE WILL MEASURE PROGRESS
Information will be published on the Council’s website as required by Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy guidance. 

We will use the following measures to assess progress towards our aims and the 
actions set out in the Action Plan 2017 – 2020

 Dartford Greenhouse Gas Emissions report (published annually)
 Household Energy Efficiency National Statistics

o ECO measures
o Households in receipt of ECO measures

 CO2 emissions
 Gas Consumption statistics 
 Electricity Consumption statistics
 Fuel Poverty statistics 
 Excess Winter deaths 
 Kent Warm Homes Scheme
 Collective Switching figures
 Off Gas data


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 9 March 2017
	7 Consultation on the Housing White Paper "Fixing our Broken Housing Market"
	Housing Consultation APPENDIX A
	Housing Consultation APPENDIX B

	8 Business Rate Pool: Use of Pool Funds
	9 Street Naming and Numbering - Land North of Hedge Place Road
	Street Naming APPENDIX A

	10 Orchard Theatre: Auditorium Seating
	11 Report of Delegated Action taken under Standing Order 38: Response to A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet Junction Improvements Public Consultation
	SO38 A2 junction consultations APPENDIX A
	SO38 A2 junction consultations APPENDIX B

	12 Dartford Home Energy Conservation - Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2015 – 2018 Progress Report & Home Energy and Fuel Poverty Action Plan 2017 - 2020
	Home Energy and Fuel Poverty APPENDIX A
	Home Energy and Fuel Poverty APPENDIX B (amended)




